
  

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

 

 

To: The Members of the Liverpool City Region 
 Transport Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Transport 
Committee to be held on Thursday, 13th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm in the 
Authority Chamber, Mann Island, Liverpool L3 1BP. 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast but 
for anyone who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic 
Services on 07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. Please note that there is very limited 
capacity in the Chamber and seating will be allocated on a first come, first 
served basis. 
 

All those attending will be asked to wear a face covering (unless exempt) and 
are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test before attending. You should not 
attend if you have tested positive for Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms 
of Coronavirus. 
 

If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee 
held on 11 November 2021. 

  (Pages 1 - 26) 
 

4. BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2022/23  

 To consider the report of the Treasurer. 

  (Pages 27 - 44) 
 

5. MERSEY TUNNELS TOLLS 2022/23  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 45 - 52) 
 

6. QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director for Bus. 

  (Pages 53 - 62) 
 

7. MERSEY FERRIES PIER HEAD TERMINAL  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 63 - 68) 
 

8. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which 
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 
11.  
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item and copies of valid 
questions will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact 
Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
A pro-forma will be supplied which, for this meeting must be returned by 
5.00pm on Monday, 10 January 2022 (the Monday before the meeting). In 
this respect, return details are set out in the pro-forma. 

   

9. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to submit a single 
petition or statement in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11. 
 
Members of the Public who wish to submit a single petition or statement 
are asked to contact Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
All petitions and statements for this meeting should be submitted to 
Merseytravel, using the contact details above, by 5.00pm on 10 January 
2022 (the Monday before the meeting). 

   

10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON  

   
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LCR TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Transport Committee held in the Authority Chamber - 
No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Thursday, 11th November, 2021 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor L Robinson 
Chairperson of the Transport Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillors J Banks, J Burke, C Cooke, S Foulkes, G Friel, S Halsall, N Killen, 
K McGlashan, L Melia, N Nicholas, D O'Connor, G Philbin, T Rowe and J Williams. 
 
Attending remotely: Councillors A Brough and A Jones. 
 
30. CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson welcomed everyone to the meeting 
which was taking place in the home location at Mann Island.  He talked through the 
usual housekeeping arrangements. 
 
He welcomed Councillors Tony Brough and Allan Jones who were participating in the 
meeting remotely. 
 
Armistice Day  
 
The Chairperson stated that it was only right that a two-minute silence be observed 
to remember the service and sacrifice of all those who had defended our freedom 
and protected our way of life. 
 
The Committee stood in silence.  
 
Recent Road Traffic Collision in the Queensway Tunnel 
 
The Chairperson recalled that on 17 October 2021 there had been a road traffic 
collision in the Queensway Tunnel involving two vehicles. Sadly, the driver and 
passenger of one of the vehicles lost their lives and the driver of the other vehicle 
was seriously injured. He indicated that the thoughts of the Committee went out to 
the bereaved families of the two young people and best wishes for the ongoing 
recovery of the driver of the other vehicle.  
 
He also put on record his thanks to all staff who responded to the incident. The 
Mersey Tunnels Police team were first on scene and their bravery and swift actions 
made us realise the service we provide in such tragic circumstances.  
 
Salisbury Train Crash  
 
The Chairperson also referred to the recent Salisbury train crash on 31 October 2021 
where a South Western Railway passenger service from London Waterloo to 
Honiton, collided with the side of the 17:08 hours Great Western Railway passenger 
service from Portsmouth Harbour to Bristol Temple Meads.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



He advised that the Combined Authority had raised this tragic accident with Network 
Rail to understand whether the underlying conditions that led to this accident featured 
in the City Region‟s rail network.  
 
31. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Paul Hayes, Anthony Lavelle, 
Joe Pearson, Gareth Stockton and John Stockton. 
  
32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
33. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record subject to the following amendment: 
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson asked if reference to the following could 
be made in the minutes as it was an important point which should have been 
included: 
 
Page 8, 7th paragraph – where Councillor Robinson had made the point about tap-
on-tap-off smart ticketing approach he had also mentioned the failure of the 
operators to appropriately work with Transport for the North‟s „Smart in the North‟ 
smart ticketing programme.  
 
34. CITY REGION SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT SETTLEMENTS  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson reported that there had been some 
positive news in relation to the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 
(CRSTS). The City Region had secured a sum of £710m which was testament to the 
whole team and the six districts. This settlement was better than the vast majority of 
other city regions across the country.  
 
Paul Buntin, Lead Officer for Transport Development updated the Committee on the 
CRSTS. In July the Combined Authority (CA) was asked to make a bid for levelling 
up funds and also to produce a short prospectus in response to Government 
guidance. The prospectus had to include a mini appraisal of the transport schemes 
which listed the projects within that programme, and they gave us a low and high 
scenario funding range to work within. The funding period covered April 2023 to 
March 2027 and allocations would be determined on the quality of the submission. 
The allocation that we could expect was a range between £480m-£790m and this 
range had been secured based on negotiations with the Department for Transport. 
The CA had to demonstrate 15% local contribution and integrated transport block 
and highways maintenance had to be consolidated within that fund. The prospectus 
had to be submitted by the end of August and therefore timescales had been tight.  
 
There were a number of risks which included the 15% local contribution, but this was 
felt to be manageable given some of the projects currently undertaken as a 
partnership, in particular the rolling stock programme which was local money that 
could be matched with Central Government funding. It had also been necessary to 
demonstrate a roadmap for the Local Transport Plan and maximise our local 
revenues. The funding range of £480m-£790m was welcomed but it also presented a 
challenge in terms of the ability to develop all of those projects and the resources to 

Page 2



deliver them. The timescales to turn around the prospectus had been tight and had 
been a challenge for the team. It had been necessary to include the Integrated 
Transport Block and Highways Maintenance which was something that had not been 
anticipated.  
 
An approved transport pipeline was in place so as a partnership this work had been 
ongoing for the past 18 months. A number of projects had already been identified 
such as green bus routes. It was proposed that some projects could be accelerated 
with the levelling-up funding to maximise this work.  
 
The Liverpool City Region had secured £710m of funding from the STS and £40m for 
the Levelling-Up fund. The authority therefore had £750m to deliver the transport 
pipeline. There was still an element of over programming which would need to 
progress to the next funding envelope. However, it was good to note that the Region  
had been the only Combined Authority to receive levelling up funding. The next step 
would be to put together a programme-wide business case to unlock the funding 
following which it would be necessary to look at resource allocation.  
 
Paul Buntin summarised the big challenge the bid had posed and that the outcome 
had been successful as a result of partnership working. He thanked all of the City 
Region Local Authorities and modal leads for their help in putting the bid together.  
Councillor Ken McGlashan said that this was excellent news and it demonstrated 
how hard Officers had worked over many years. To have projects in the pipeline and 
for Officers to respond quickly to secure this funding was something that should be 
commended. This was a huge amount of money and he hoped it would be well 
spent. He also hoped that there were more projects in the pipeline which could be 
allocated to any further funding the authority might bid for and receive. This was an 
extremely deprived area – one of the only major cities which did not have a tram 
system.  
 
Councillor Gordon Friel endorsed what Councillor McGlashan had said. He queried 
that with so many schemes in place which would need to go out to tender, were we 
ensuring that we were complying with all requirements, for example, training and the 
living wage. He also questioned how much of a problem it would be to get these 
schemes delivered with so many coming on tap at once and the fact that there was a 
lack of resources available outside of the organisation to be able to undertake the 
jobs. Even if the funding was in place people would still be required to physically do 
the work.  
 
Councillor Allan Jones referred to the levelling up fund and asked why it was 
separate from the other fund, what was it for, and why had the LCRCA got it and 
other places had not.  
 
Paul Buntin replied that the levelling up fund had been released prior to the transport 
settlement so was a separate bid. The reason that the Region had received the 
funding was because its appraisal had been robust and of a high quality.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson summarised that this was good news for the region, and 
he was particularly delighted with the hard work put in by the team as they had had 
only six weeks to pull the bid together. There had been a sense that the authority 
was being set up to fail but the team had all worked hard to submit such a high-
quality bid which had been successful. It was now time to move to the delivery side of 
the schemes which it was hoped would significantly change the way people travelled 
around the region by putting in place a high-quality transport network.  
 

Page 3



Councillor Robinson acknowledged that whilst the Combined Authority had done well 
in securing this funding, this was just the first step of many. In the coming weeks he 
would like to see a really transformational announcement from Government around 
the Integrated Rail Plan, focussing on the right rail infrastructure which would include 
a new twin track line from Liverpool linking onto the Northern Powerhouse Rail and 
HS2 network. Equally, it would be good to see a significant response to the Bus 
Service Improvement Plan to ensure revenue funding was available to support a 
really improved bus network that some of this capital funding would allow.  
 
This was a settlement for the next five years, but it was necessary to think about 
what would happen in the years beyond that and to make sure that similar significant 
allocations were secured from Government in the same way that had been so 
successful for London in the past, which was exactly what all residents deserved.  
This was something that the Authority would continue to fight hard for. Councillor 
Robinson reiterated his thanks to Paul Buntin and the team and he asked Paul to 
take his personal thanks back to every individual who had worked on this.  
 
RESOLVED - that the presentation be noted.  
 
 
35. COVID RESPONSE AND RECOVERY  
 
The Committee considered a presentation from Gary Evans, Assistant Director for 
Customer Delivery on the transport related response and impact as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
There had been a lot of national Government changes since March 2020 with a 
range of restrictions being put in place and then lifted at various stages. September 
2020 had been particularly challenging from a transport perspective when children 
returned to school.  
 
In respect of governance this had been covered by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
which structure ranged from COBRA nationally to Local Resilience Forums (LRF) on 
a local level and these broadly followed the Police boundaries. However, it had been 
complicated further in this area as the Combined Authority boundaries crossed over 
two Local Resilience Forums (Cheshire and Merseyside). The Transport Cell sat 
within that structure and the cell had been set up by colleagues on the Merseyside 
LRF who were operating at a multi-agency level around the response to the 
pandemic.  
 
There had been challenges on the transport network. Although the authority had 
exercised for such a global pandemic within the LRF structures no-one could have 
foreseen the impact of what happened in March 2020. It moved with such fluidity and 
speed it was a real challenge to manage within it. Officers had worked long and hard 
to implement restrictions often within a 24-hour period. Specific challenges had 
included the safety of customers and staff which was paramount, but transport had 
been designed to carry lots of people in small spaces and that brought an interesting 
challenge in itself. Social distancing and capacity issues was one of the greatest 
challenges. Also, people tended to react in different ways and therefore human 
behaviour was a relevance as some were blasé and others were really scared, and it 
was necessary to take into account all of those views and how that translated into 
service delivery. It was also important to understand the impacts on the longer terms 
trends as the world of transport had changed significantly and it had been necessary 
to react to that.  
 

Page 4



In respect of active travel there had been a range of funding made available from 
central government but locally it was utilising the opportunity the pandemic brought 
us to accelerate some of the programmes such as pop-up cycle lanes and 
reallocation of road space and some local authority partners had brought in 
initiatives. There had been an increase in people taking up walking and cycling as a 
mode of transport partly due to the capacity restrictions on public transport. As the 
pandemic developed, particularly around the reopening of retail and hospitality 
sectors, the reallocation of road space could be seen e.g. the closure of Castle Street 
in Liverpool and the repurposing to aid economic recovery.  
 
On the bus network the three main Companies had worked closely together and at 
different times throughout the pandemic different capacity levels and demand could 
be seen. At times it had been really challenging trying to carry 80% of passengers 
with only 50% capacity and operators had helped and collaborated over that period 
to maintain services. Although there had been a reduction in service levels the first 
and last bus services had been maintained right throughout the pandemic as it had 
been recognised that a lot of essential workers still needed to travel to and from 
hospitals. He highlighted the vaccination bus which had been provided by Arriva and 
supported by Stagecoach and in the first six weeks of operation more than 5,000 
people had been vaccinated on that bus. This was a good example of co-ordination 
through the LRF which had made a real difference to communities on the ground.   
 
Concessionary travel on the bus network – Gary Evans presented a graph which 
showed that at the start of the pandemic there had been a dramatic fall in numbers 
and the implications of that in the longer term. It could be seen that there had been 
various peaks and troughs over the past 18 months when restrictions were put in 
place and then lifted at various times. It had been a very changing picture and even 
now the bus network was not seeing a full return to pre-pandemic numbers. 
Patronage levels were around 75-80% dependant on the route but throughout the 
pandemic it had been noticeable that when compared with the national picture bus 
patronage had been higher in this region and that was a big indicator about the 
reliance on the bus network.  
 
Rail network – the majority of services had been maintained throughout and where 
there had been a loss of service this had been carefully chosen with minimal impact 
on the customer. Where a loss of service was seen that had been compensated 
through a ticket acceptance arrangement with Arriva. All stations had remained open 
but again this had been a challenging area due to the social distancing restrictions 
which had to be managed. Staff had been brought in from outlying stations to help in 
the city centre locations. Great examples of collaboration could be seen in this area 
and in particular the co-ordination through the LRF to increase testing in the late part 
of 2020. Work was undertaken in collaboration with Sefton Council to roll out testing 
at local stations to make it convenient for the travelling public. Again, there had been 
peaks and troughs in passenger numbers across the pandemic period in respect of 
concession usage. Currently, Merseyrail was reporting around 75% patronage levels 
on that service but there was a very differing demand where much more of a leisure 
focus could be seen with less demand on intercity routes.  
 
Mersey Ferries – there had been an initial loss of service but when restrictions were 
lifted in May 2020 the focus had been on providing a cross river resilience transport 
service to support other modes of transport. From May 2020 it could been seen that 
demand to the leisure services had started to return. On 19 July 2021 all restrictions 
had been eased and the country had returned to normality. Mersey Ferries had 
always maintained a mandatory face covering approach but the key message was 
that whilst there had been a reduction in patronage, financially over the summer 

Page 5



period there had been very little drop in numbers when compared with the summer of 
2019.  
 
Highway Network – Mersey Tunnels electronic payments had been promoted and 
some active travel and local authority initiatives had also been put in place. In respect 
of the work of the Cell the aim had been to try and pull all network decisions together 
so that they were co-ordinated and would have limited impact for the customer. An 
initial drop in levels had been seen at the start of the pandemic through Mersey 
Tunnels. Covid had brought about a change in payment methods whereby payment 
by cash had seen a downward trend and an upwards trend for payment by card and 
contactless and it was therefore important to grasp those opportunities to 
revolutionise and transform transport services to hold on to those advantages moving 
forward.  
 
Messages – Officers had looked at how messages could be disseminated and 
consequently Communications colleagues had been seconded into the Cell to help 
with getting critical transport demand messages out to the public. He gave examples 
of some of the campaigns such as „Retime, Reschedule and Repair‟ and also the 
„Re-Think Travel‟ campaign which had underpinned all of the responses to Covid 19 
on the transport network. Messages within the campaign had been tailored as each 
of the restrictions had been introduced or eased and had been around encouraging 
customers to do the right things and thanking them for conforming throughout the 
pandemic.  
 
Recovery of Transport – Gary Evans confirmed that the authority was still in a 
learning stage. Even though restrictions had eased it was still necessary to promote 
safety guidance as Covid was still a real risk. It was important to reassure people that 
public transport was safe to use and the fact that there was little evidence that 
transmissions were rising as a result of using public transport services. The 
Transport Cell was not meeting at present and was in standby mode but it was still 
necessary to respond and manage risk if necessary. There was uncertainty around 
what the new normal looked like as it could be seen that people‟s travel patterns had 
changed due to working from home etc. and that needed to be taken into account in 
the recovery phase.  
 
Gary Evans stated that this had been very much a team and collaborative approach, 
and everyone had made a difference to the public throughout the pandemic.  
 
Councillor Sean Halsall also asked if thanks could be put on record to all the 
transport workers who had worked throughout the pandemic and had put themselves 
at risk with some actually losing their lives. Councillor Liam Robinson agreed and 
stated that he had committed to looking at a transport worker memorial at an 
appropriate time as it was important to recognise the sacrifice that had been made by 
many who worked on our network. For everyone who worked on the transport 
network the last 18 months had been difficult and very stressful, so it was right that 
every opportunity was taken to thanks them for their efforts.  
 
Councillor Ken McGlashan fully endorsed what had been said but felt that also taxi 
drivers should be included as quite a few of them had suffered the same. He noted 
that at the start of the pandemic the Government had admitted that they had not had 
a plan or anything in place to manage the pandemic. Gary Evans in his presentation 
had mentioned that we had had a plan which was workable. It might not have been 
specifically set up for Covid, but it had been adjustable to deal with it and that 
demonstrated the quality and expertise of the Officers within the organisation.  
 

Page 6



Councillor Gordon Friel also thanked staff on the frontline in the organisation. He had 
been fortunate to be able to work virtually but some people on the front line had not 
been able to do that. However, he was confused about the messaging and what 
people should do because there was so much uncertainty across the country. The 
Winter season was coming upon us with flu, colds and Covid all about and people‟s 
jobs depended on public transport, but he felt that the Government message had not 
been right and therefore it was essential to reinforce the message around the 
cleansing regime as people in Merseyside seemed to be oblivious of Covid which 
was not the same in other areas.  
 
Gary Evans responded that the approach had always been that it was a national 
pandemic so the national restrictions had been adopted locally otherwise the 
messaging could be confusing. For example, when face coverings became 
mandatory on public transport from 15 June 2020 the local messaging responded 
and reacted to that very forcefully and that message was consistently maintained. 
Surveys had been undertaken which showed that when face coverings were 
mandatory there was 95-96% compliance in this region. From that feedback it could 
be seen that this was consistently one of the higher performing regions in terms of 
compliance. The challenges came about when the national position changed, so no 
matter what was said locally if the national position was that face coverings were no 
longer mandatory and there was no enforcement around that then, so no matter what 
was said to encourage people, they would always do different things. Our messaging 
had always been consistent in that it was safe to use public transport as there were 
measures in place such as enhanced cleaning regimes and social distancing 
arrangements etc. So, in summary there had been some different messaging locally, 
but it was essential in the main to comply with the national position otherwise it could 
be confusing.  
 
Councillor Gordon Friel agreed that the messaging had been good and consistent but 
the environment was changing so if cases increased to the point that there were real 
concerns about our message could it be adjusted.  
 
Gary Evans replied that he had talked previously about the LRF and the Transport 
Cell was linked in there along with both a Health and Comms Cell. Therefore, the 
message and the issues that the region faced would be tailored appropriately through 
that Comms Cell and thus he could give an assurance it was all joined up.  
 
Councillor Nathalie Nicholas said that it was always helpful to take people back to 
where we were in 2020 and where we were now. She echoed comments from 
colleagues in terms of thanks because at the frontline of the NHS if it was not for the 
buses or the teachers, she and other NHS staff would not have been able to work. In 
terms of recovery there would be challenges as a lot of people were not wearing 
masks. She appreciated the Government message but she was mindful that there 
had been early warnings in September 2019 about the pandemic, but nothing had 
been done at that point and so many lives had therefore been put at risk during the 
first lockdown. She referred to the fact that there had been a recovery in the bus 
network in respect of the number of passengers, however, she did not drive and the 
buses were absolutely packed. Often, she would be the only person wearing a mask 
in a packed condensed bus and she felt that whilst Covid case numbers were still 
quite high then the Combined Authority should be liaising with Public Health and the 
LRF to get a stronger joined up message out around the wearing of masks and 
adhering to social distancing. Looking forward at recovery it was essential to learn 
from what had happened previously as we did not want to go back to a position 
where numbers rose that high again.   
 

Page 7



Councillor Ged Philbin referred to face coverings and the inconsistency of the rules 
from Government especially around Transport for London who seemed to have 
different rules than the rest of the country and this should be highlighted. Face 
coverings were mandatory on Transport for London but that did not seem to be the 
case elsewhere.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson felt that this was a good point and highlighted how the 
control of the public transport network in London was exactly the same approach we 
needed to have. Liverpool City Region needed to have the same control in order to 
protect travellers here. It was not acceptable that different bus and train companies 
could choose to opt out.  
 
One of the key points from the presentation was around the focus on the future to 
give people the confidence that they could travel on the public transport network. It 
would be necessary to push the message about the guarantee of enhanced cleaning 
regimes that were in place. He stated that the cleanliness was of a much higher 
standard today than it had been three or four years ago and that would continue to 
be the case.  Another point that he made was around ensuring that the right ticketing 
fares approach was in place to ensure that it was good value and as cheap as 
possible. The Combined Authority did not have complete control of the ticketing fares 
structure at present – it could influence and there were elements where changes 
could be made but there was a need to get to a stage where the system was 
financially sustainable. This was an issue that would come back for discussion in 
future meetings.  
 
Councillor Robinson thanked Gary Evans for the presentation and looked forward to 
further updates as the pandemic developed.  
 
RESOLVED -  That the presentation be noted.  
 
36. THE TRANSPORT ASPECTS OF THE CORPORATE PLAN  
 
The Committee considered the report of Merseytravel which set out the transport 
deliverables required from the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority‟s Corporate 
Plan which would be considered and monitored by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and/or the Transport Committee of the Combined Authority. 
 
In this respect, John Fogarty, Executive Director for Corporate Services informed the 
Committee that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority approved the 
Corporate Plan on 23 July 2021.  The information within the Corporate Plan which 
defined what to do and why we do it and allowed that information to be cascaded 
through a multifunctional and large organisation that had many facets, of which 
transport was one. The devolved powers that the City Region Mayor had was not 
restricted to transport and this plan sought to make sure that all those different facets 
were moving in the right direction.   
 
The purpose of the Combined Authority was to improve the lives of the £1.6m people 
that it served, but also in the transport context the millions of people who were within 
the region‟s travel to work area. Again, it was about a fairer, cleaner and stronger 
City Region but equally one where no-one was left behind. It also reflected the 
vibrancy of the City Region and how well connected it was. The Combined Authority 
had responsibility for areas such as regeneration, housing, spatial planning, culture, 
employment and skills and the plan also referred to ambition such as the LCR 
connectivity project, ultra-high speed broadband links and tidal energy ambitions 
together with the overarching ambitions around net zero. Transport played a massive 

Page 8



part in all of those, but it could not be achieved in isolation. The Corporate Plan had 
been developed in collaboration with local authority partners and by political leaders 
and was informed by the Mayor‟s manifesto.  
 
The Corporate Plan was delivered and enforced through a solid performance 
management framework and underpinned by a Medium Term Financial Plan and 
also the work programme of Portfolio Holders of which Councillor Robinson was the 
Portfolio Holder for transport. John Fogarty referred to the slide which set out the 
Transport Portfolio deliverables such as electric vehicle charging points, highways 
infrastructure and the appendix to report gave an update on all of those.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson thanked John Fogarty and all of the team for bringing the 
report forward. It was important to show how we fitted into the wider organisation and 
what it delivered. It also demonstrated how the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto and pledges 
made in his election campaign were then pulled through into practical delivery, not 
from a political point of view, but how the pledges made to the public could get 
incorporated by the organisation and delivered and this report showed that.  
 
Councillor Jeanette Banks thanked John Fogarty for his presentation. She noted that 
there were a large number of projects which was good but she would like to see 
more detail and next steps if possible because it would be good to be able to fit these 
into local plans as well so that it could be seen when these projects were going to 
come on board and when they would be delivered.  
 
John Fogarty confirmed that the Boroughs had been involved in the completion of 
this document and there was a constant dialogue with each of them, but it was also 
something that could be reflected in a report for the next meeting which could include 
a look ahead. Councillor Liam Robinson agreed and asked if the Portfolio update 
could be shared with everyone because they should be entitled to the same 
information.  
 
Councillor Nathalie Nicholas said that it was really exciting and good to see the 
delivery of the pledges made by the Metro Mayor. In respect of the report the only 
concern she had was around point 6 equality and diversity implications. There were 
so many good projects listed but she felt that the report missed highlighting some of 
the benefits in terms of reducing inequality and addressing some of those 
implications. John Fogarty noted the point that Councillor Nicholas had raised and 
confirmed that he would develop that section further in the next report. He advised 
that work was ongoing with Liverpool on this issue with the aim of improving 
consideration of equality in reporting in general.  
 
RESOLVED – That the content of the report and the update at Appendix 1, be noted. 
 
 
37. DEVELOPING THE NEXT STATUTORY LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN (LTP) 

FIRST STAGE: AGREEING AND ENGAGING STAKEHOLDERS ON A 
DRAFT VISION FOR TRANSPORT  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy 
and Government Relations which provided an update on the process for developing 
a new Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the Liverpool City Region.  
 
Huw Jenkins, Lead for Transport Policy, gave a presentation on the growing 
importance of up-to-date LTPs from the Department for Transport‟s perspective, and 
in parallel as a means of delivering the decarbonisation of transport. 

Page 9



 
Huw Jenkins also referred to Appendix Two to the report which detailed a draft 
“issues, challenges and vision” document as a first stage in the development of the 
new plan. This was intended as a basis of further engagement with stakeholders.  
Delegated authority was sought to allow the draft document to be refined and for a 
structured on-line consultation response form to be developed to gauge perspectives 
on the issues raised. 
 
Huw Jenkins advised that regular updates would be presented to Members of the 
Transport Committee on this issue to maintain full oversight of, and input into the 
developing LTP. 
 
Huw Jenkins stated that it was a statutory requirement to produce a transport plan 
which sat with the Combined Authority as it was the Transport Authority for the 
Liverpool City Region. An  LTP was a series of transport policies and programmes 
which were very often linked to how the funding would be delivered, the metrics used 
to monitor progress and guiding how transport would be delivered across the City 
Region. There were, for historic reasons, two LTPs covering the City Region at 
present - one for Merseyside and a separate plan for Halton. However, they were 
now over a decade old and predated the Combined Authority and it was felt that this 
was the right time to consolidate and review those statutory plans.  
 
LTPs had become a little dormant over the last decade. Government took a lighter 
touch approach and there had been no rigid guidelines. However, what was now 
being seen was a much clearer indication that up to date LTPs were needed and 
linked into the transport settlement. They needed to set how local areas would set 
out their ambitions to deliver net zero carbon and which came out of the 
Decarbonisation Plan.  
 
There was a very clear statement in the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto in relation to taking 
forward the ambitions for a „London-style transport system‟ and the LTP also had 
links into and were referenced in two sections in the Corporate Plan. The 
development process for the plan was a structured process and it was about 
understanding what transport needed to do. It was not a series of schemes for 
arbitrary reasons, but it needed to respond to all transport needs. The LTP set out 
how transport linked to our bigger ambitions and policies e.g. being net zero carbon 
by 2040 and that would be taken through a Climate Action Plan coming to the 
Combined Authority later this month. It would also consider the scenarios of what a 
post-Covid world might look like, where the gaps were etc. and what that meant in 
terms of transport.  A series of tools would be used to answer those questions such 
as a strategic transport model and some carbon modelling tools as well.  
 
The Project Plan was set out in Appendix 1 and it had been agreed that the process 
would be started by setting out the long term vision and goals for transport. This 
would involve looking at the challenges and opportunities, a series of goals to focus 
activities around, validating the ambitions and the first stage in the consultation 
process. Consideration would also need to be given to the scale and pace of change 
that was needed to take this forward in order to get from where we were now to a net 
zero carbon economy in just 19 years‟ time. That had to happen now and could not 
wait until 2039. Therefore, part of the consultation was around validating that vision 
to make sure people were on board and understood the challenges.  
 
Following on from the consultation a strategy would be developed with a delivery and 
investment programme which would also include an integrated assessment which 

Page 10



was a requirement and an Equality Impact Assessment and an Environment Impact 
Assessment. The aim was to finalise the plan by the Spring of 2023.  
 
Huw Jenkins advised that the document in Appendix 2 was still in draft form and 
there were still a number of gaps and some sections needed to be updated as a 
result of the spending review. Comments would be welcomed from members of the 
Committee. Therefore, delegated authority was being sought for the Executive 
Director of Policy, Strategy and Government Relations, in consultation with the Chair 
of the Transport Committee, to oversee the refinement of the document prior to 
commencing the consultation process early in the New Year. Officers would continue 
working on the background and economic forecasts and a series of transport 
scenarios to understand the implications of growth, change and uncertainty.  
 
The document could be broken down into three core challenges and opportunities: 
 

 Recovery from the pandemic and building an inclusive economy - the economy 
was unbalanced at present, and transport could lead to inequality if people did 
not have access to transport or could not afford transport and that was an 
immediate priority post Covid; 

 

 Decarbonising the economy and transport – this was a second core challenge. 
The level of carbon emissions had not changed in past decade. Huge strides 
had been made in decarbonising how electricity was produced but transport was 
still producing and burning a lot of fossil fuels and producing a lot of carbon 
emissions. It would be a huge challenge to get to zero by 2040; and 

 

 Responding positively to the new funding – it was excellent news that a sum of 
£750m had been secured for the first five years. However, the focus of that 
funding would be different to previous funds – this would not be a fund for road 
building schemes or dealing with pinch points in the highway network etc. this 
was around putting bus, active travel and cycling right at the heart of what we did 
and giving priority to sustainable travel that would decarbonise.  

 
In order to take the process forward the draft vision set a very high level strap line 
and included five goals which included decarbonisation and improving health. Goal 
five was an important one – ensuring that we respond to uncertainty and change but 
also innovation and new technologies. New technology offered opportunities to do 
things differently and there was uncertainty around the impact of Covid and home 
working in travel terms. It would be necessary to keep options open and to be 
responsive to change.  
 
Huw Jenkins confirmed that he would report back to the Committee with feedback 
and the preferred strategy following the consultation. However, Members were keen 
to see this at future Transport Committee meetings. The first stage was the vision 
document and thoughts and comments from Members were welcomed prior to going 
live with the consultation process in the new year.  
 
Councillor Ken McGlashan stated that the phrase „Local Transport Plan‟ did not tell 
the full story as it also covered things like decarbonisation and health. The LTP set 
out where we were and where we wanted to be in terms of transport, but it was also 
relevant to all the districts so that they could link that to their local transport plans. It 
also had relevance to the national programme as well as there was a huge amount of 
freight which came in through the docks, but the road structure was not there to 
complement that. Once the LTP was in place it would then be possible to lobby 

Page 11



Government about where the City Region fitted in with national picture, for example 
HS2. He felt that this was a superb piece of work and thanked Officers. In terms of 
delegated authority he was happy to leave it provided that Members were kept up to 
date at all times. Councillor Liam Robinson confirmed that this would be a standing 
item in future and assured him that Members would be able to keep a close eye on 
progress.  
 
Councillor Gordon Friel queried the start and finish dates as it seemed to extend 
longer than previous plans. He also referred to rail freight as his understanding was 
that there would be a further study at the beginning of the year around that and 
whether it would present any difficulties in formalising this on a delegated decision. 
He noted the comments made about not leaving everything to the back end of the 
plan, but transport was only one element in reducing carbon. He had learnt that 
throughout the pandemic where people had been working from home and switched 
the heating on in the winter the actual pollution levels had risen substantially. It would 
therefore be important to ensure that people were encouraged to use the transport 
network.  
 
Huw Jenkins replied that the suggested end date of 2040 was considered to be a 
logical one to tie in with the Metro Mayor‟s vision for net zero carbon. There was also 
a synergy with the Spatial Development Strategy that was being taken forward and 
which would also have a similar horizon. The plan would go live from the Spring of 
2023, so a 17 year period, but in all probability there would be short term delivery 
plans which would be reviewed at regular periods to reflect new funding and new 
certainty. In respect of the comments made on challenges around influencing 
national policy, hopefully this message was coming out in the draft vision documents. 
Some projects could be delivered by ourselves, such as hydrogen batteries on trains 
and active travel, but other areas around freight would need national support for 
additional rail capacity in order to get more freight onto the rail network to 
decarbonise. It was hoped that the LTP would act as a lobbying and positioning 
document when it came to making the authority‟s case to secure Government funds 
as well as allocating and guiding our funds.  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson requested that as part of the LTP 
Officers went through the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto to pull through all of the pledges. 
He also asked if Officers could ensure that the consultation mechanisms were in 
place to bring forward thoughts and views because there was a wealth of experience 
and some superb ideas in this organisation as well as from local businesses and 
residents. This was a good start and he looked forward to further updates at future 
meetings.  
 

RESOLVED That:- 
 

(i) the details set out in the report in relation to the process of developing a 
new Local Transport Plan for the city region to clearly articulate the new 
vision for transport, be endorsed;  

 
(ii) the draft “issues, challenges and vision” document set out within Appendix 

Two to this report as a first stage in the development of the LTP, be 
endorsed and it be agreed that this will form the basis of consultation with 
stakeholders across the city region and into 2022; 

 
(iii) delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy 

and Government Relations, in consultation with the Chairperson of the 
Transport Committee to oversee the refinement of the above document 

Page 12



and to develop a structured on-line consultation and feedback form, to 
gauge feedback on, and validate the issues set out within it; and  

  
(iv)  updates be received on the development of the LTP and on issues and 

challenges arising and it be a standing item on future Transport Committee 
agendas and at informal briefing sessions. 

 
38. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION ROAD SAFETY STRATEGY  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director for Policy, Strategy 
and Government Relations which set out the new Road Safety Strategy for the 
Liverpool City Region for comments, ahead of its approval by the Combined 
Authority.  
 
Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Co-ordinator advised that the aim was to support the 
Government‟s Road Safety Statement of 2019 which set out an aspiration for a shift 
to a vision zero approach to road safety where avoidable road deaths and injuries 
should be reduced to an absolute minimum. The strategy had been developed in 
consultation with a range of stakeholders but it had been Merseyside Police who had 
had a significant input into the drafting of the document and it was the Safer Roads 
Unit who had undertaken a lot of the data analysis. The new Road Safety Strategy 
was built on the safe systems approach which recognised the need for shared 
responsibility of reducing risk on the roads. It recognised that people would make 
mistakes but also it was about making sure that there was a greater allowance for 
human error and that planning and designing neighbourhoods, roads and transport 
systems for all road users was the starting point when designing networks and 
transport systems.  
 
Safe systems was built around five core themes or pillars which were at the heart of 
the strategy. The first was safe speeds exemplified, but not limited to, the move to 
20mph zones. Where it was appropriate the speed limit should be built around the 
geography of the residential make up of an area to make sure that speeds were safe 
for the people who lived there. The safe street meant that roads were designed to 
reduce the risk of collision and to mitigate the severity of injury. It was noted that a lot 
of the roads in the area were old and narrow and it was therefore not possible to 
redesign every single road but when building a new housing estate it was about 
making sure that the risk of collision was minimised and making sure that they were 
as safe as possible.  
 
The safe vehicles pillar looked at vehicles which presented the greatest risk on the 
roads and looking at the data analysis a lot of road safety collisions were people 
driving for work and it was necessary to look at where those accidents were 
happening. Safe behaviour related to shared responsibility and it was about tackling 
risky behaviours which were attributable to road danger and trying to minimise 
avoidable deaths to make sure people recognised that it was up to them to use road 
safety as well as roads being designed safely in the first place. Suzanne Cain also 
referred to the post-crash response which included working with the emergency 
services to provide the best possible response to those incidents in order to minimise 
the after-effects and costs involved with people being killed or seriously injured.  
 
In delivering the strategy there would be a step change in the approach to safer 
roads with a clearer recognition that deaths and serious injuries on the roads were 
preventable and not acceptable. The ambition was to reduce the number and 
severity of road traffic collisions working to an overall vision zero target. There would 
be no avoidable deaths or serious injuries on the roads of the City Region by 2040 

Page 13



and this tied in with many other initiatives that had the 2040 horizon. Once adopted 
the immediate action would be to draw up an action plan to start to drill down on how 
the local authorities, police and other agencies could start to deliver on the new 
strategy. The strategy included a commitment to produce an annual activity report to 
look at what had been delivered and progress towards the target of vision zero by 
2040. 
 
Councillor Steve Foulkes referred to a recent situation in the Wirral whereby the 
Road Safety Policy had been challenged in order to enshrine the issues of vision 
zero which was a newer initiative. He queried whether the other local authorities or 
agencies had updated their local safety plans or road safety schemes as it seemed 
odd if that rigor was not being applied at a local level when that was the regional 
position – he felt that the two should marry up. Secondly, he stated that 20mph zones 
should not only be the norm in residential areas it should be the norm in people‟s 
minds as there were decarbonisation benefits when travelling at slower speeds. The 
aspiration for vision zero should be a driving force across the board in the City 
Region. Finally, he suggested that manufacturers should be pressed to introduce a 
warning sign in vehicles which would indicate that a person was travelling at the 
wrong speed in an area. This seemed like it would be a technical solution to a big 
problem.  
 
Suzanne Cain responded that she was not aware of what the plans were for each 
local authority for taking this forward. One of the problems that had been experienced 
in the past was that there had never been an overseeing authority approach which it 
had been possible to bring forward following the creation of the Combined Authority 
and which did cover a lot more ground than the former Integrated Transport 
Authority. The Road Safety Strategy which had been drafted in 2017 had started to 
harmonise that approach. When work started in March last year to redraft the 
strategy the aim was to think about what local authorities were doing and it had only 
been in the last 18 months that this visionary Combined Authority approach had been 
taken in order to have top down buy in. She therefore hoped that that message would 
trickle down to a local authority level. It was now for each of the local authorities and 
agencies to really adopt this and start to take it forward. However, she felt that it was 
too early at this stage to say whether that was the case. In terms of lobbying car 
manufacturers she confirmed that she would pass that through to the team when 
they started to draw up the various delivery plans as this was something that should 
be taken forward. 
 
Councillor Chris Cooke confirmed that a lot of work had been undertaken in the 
Wirral around road safety and whose findings were very much in favour of the 20mph 
speed limit universally in all residential, school and shopping areas. He could not see 
any reference in the report to the 20mph limit, but the fact was that vision zero would 
not be realistic without the 20mph speed limit. He therefore questioned why the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was not adopting a policy of 20mph speed 
limits in all residential, school and shopping areas where pedestrians congregated, 
as this was in line with the United Nation‟s recommendations.   
 
Suzanne Cain replied that the legal duty to deliver on road safety rested with each of 
the local authorities and it was therefore not something that the Combined Authority 
could dictate. She hoped that by having such an ambitious, high level strategy the 
delivery of that strategy would cascade down. Because those messages were so 
strong at the top level then local authorities should not have an argument against 
implementing the strategy. There had been strong buy in from the local authorities 
and various agencies and therefore she was confident that those messages would be 
cascaded down.  

Page 14



 
Councillor Lindsay Melia agreed that it was a great ambition to get to vision zero.  
However, a lot of this seemed to be about identifying the issues and the potential 
solutions rather than clear actions and outcomes. She felt that it was key that the 
local authorities and the Combined Authority were all working together with clear 
measurable outcomes. She recognised that there were some elements which could 
not be controlled and noted that a report would be brought forward within a year. 
However, she asked if progress would be reviewed on a regular basis.  
 
Suzanne Cain responded that the Road Safety Partnership was currently in place 
and had been in around since the mid-noughties and it was growing in its strength 
and ability to analyse data. Every iteration in effect was that much stronger in terms 
of the way that it was established, governed and managed. The police were now 
taking a much stronger role in leading on that and a senior Police Officer was in 
place to manage the Road Safety Partnership. The analysts and support staff behind 
that were therefore in a stronger position than they were 10 years ago so she was 
hopeful that as time went on and the visionary document was in place that would give 
them the mandate to start to dictate what should be done.  
 
Councillor Ged Philbin stated that in his ward he had a lot of schools and day 
nurseries. He had been out with the Road Safety Team and had witnessed hostile 
responses to staff who had picked people up on parking in places where they should 
not be. It was great putting all these things in place, but enforcement should be dealt 
with in a different way by PCSO‟s and not staff. Anything that could be done to ease 
congestion around schools would help.  
 
Councillor Nathalie Nicholas said in terms of safe streets her wish would be that 
there should be no cars during school peak times as there had been so many 
collisions around schools. If we were looking at being truly ambitious, then that could 
be something that was looked at across the city region. 
 
Suzanne Cain replied that these were the sort of initiatives that it was proposed to 
build into the school streets and low traffic neighbourhood initiatives, and these were 
the messages that needed to be taken back to the partnership when they started to 
draw up the action plan. That was why the evaluation of those kind of initiatives was 
important and should be fed back into the wider picture so it could inform on the 
delivery of projects. It was about making those connections and the more frequently 
that happened then the more it would become second nature.    
 
Councillor Jerry Williams made the point that when planning permissions were given 
then highway safety should be fully taken into consideration as he knew, with his 
experience of being a Councillor, of numerous circumstances where that had not 
been the case.  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson agreed with all the comments which had 
been made and he thanked the new Police and Crime Commissioner who had shown 
a lot of interest in this issue. He felt that it was important that this should be closely 
monitored, and he looked forward to the annual reporting process. One of the key 
missions was to get ads many people as possible onto public transport or active in a 
sustainable means in order to reduce traffic collisions. He thanked Suzanne Cain and 
the team for all their hard work on the production of the Road Safety Strategy.  
 
Councillor Steve Foulkes referred to the 20mph zone issue and pointed Members of 
the Committee to page 97, section 5.1 of the agenda pack where there was a whole 
page on 20mph zones and the advantages of them. He wanted to ensure that 

Page 15



members of the public were aware that this had been covered. The Chairperson, 
Councillor Liam Robinson added that Liverpool City Council was one of the pioneers 
of that as a city-wide approach and which lots of other districts in the City Region 
were equally following on as well.  
 

RESOLVED that:- 
 
(i) Members comment on the proposed Liverpool City Region Road Safety 

Strategy as set out in Appendix 1; and 
 
(ii) the Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy be noted following which it 

would be presented to the Combined Authority for agreement at its 
meeting on 26 November 2021. 

 
 
 

39. RAIL UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director for Rail which provided 
an update on a number of workstreams being delivered by the Rail Division. The 
report summarised the work currently being undertaken within the Rail Division 
highlighting the projects being taken forward by the Combined Authority to improve 
the railway as well as the continued operation of the railway. 
 
In this respect updates were provided in turn by David Jones, Rail Development 
Manager, Phil Saunders, Rail Contract and Concession Manager and Mal Drury-
Rose, Assistant Director for Rail. 
 
David Jones updated the Committee on rail project and updated on the following:- 
 
Liverpool Central - Liverpool Central was a key element within the Long-term Rail 
Strategy. All Merseyrail trains called at Liverpool Central which was at capacity and it 
was expected that numbers would return in the future as people came back to the rail 
network. The extensions of the network would bring more people to the station and 
the city centre which was one of the key reasons why it was necessary to do 
something about the station.  
 
The GRIP3 design was currently underway and that took into account the basic 
option selection and what was happening with AUGUR, the development site 
alongside Liverpool Central as they owned much of the land, and we were in 
discussion with the Department for Transport regarding the GRIP4 funding which 
would be the single option development.  
 
Headbolt Lane – This was an extension of the Kirkby line to a new station just 
beyond Headbolt Lane. It used battery technology which was the first time this had 
been used in the country. It was proposed that the works would be substantially 
complete by March 2023 with the new service coming in in May 2023 at the timetable 
change. Work was being undertaken with Network Rail and Knowsley to deliver that 
project.  
 
Baltic/St James New Station – This was a new station to the south of Liverpool at 
the old St James station, but it was unlikely that the new station would be called St 
James as everyone confused it with James Street. A process was currently being 
undertaken to identify a more acceptable name for the station. The GRIP3 work was 
completed and GRIP4 work would commence early in the New Year with a possible 

Page 16



delivery date of around 2025 and therefore we would look to use some of the 
transport settlement money to fund that.  
 
Access Improvement – The key issue was that there were 21 stations in the City 
Region which were not step-free and it generally cost around £5m to make a station 
fully accessible. Currently money was available from the City Region and from 
Access for All funds to deliver five stations by March 2023 – these were Hunts Cross, 
St Michaels, Hillside and Birkenhead Park on the Merseyrail network and Broad 
Green on the Northern rail network. The Merseyrail ones were expected to be 
completed in mid-2022 and the Northern Rail one slightly later, not as a result of 
slippage, but because of the way the works had been programmed. Funding had also 
recently been approved to design three more stations – Bromborough, Aigburth and 
Rock Ferry. They had been part of the submission to the Access for All fund initially 
but had not been successful. Funding had been obtained from the City Region to 
design them up and then if there was any TCF funding or Access for All funding 
available before March 2023 then they would be ready to go. He admitted that that 
did not deal with every station, but it was proposed to hold a workshop in the New 
Year to look at the remaining stations and how prioritise which ones should be made 
accessible.  
 
Sandhills Capacity – this was associated with the Everton FC bid for a new ground 
at Bramley Moore Dock which was going ahead and effectively there were two parts 
to this. One was putting in a fan management zone, which Everton were actually 
funding, and we would deliver those works on their behalf. In terms of the second 
part was to put an extra access into the station. However, there was uncertainty 
around how that would be fully funded and consequently only the design element had 
been done. In terms of the numbers of people who would come from Everton to the 
station, there was no issue with the number of trains or train capacity, the problem 
was that it was only possible to get 3,000 people an hour onto Sandhill station and if 
9,000 to 10,000 people an hour turned up that would cause a problem. If another 
access was provided, then the station capacity would be around 6,000 people an 
hour. The ideal position would be to get Everton to fund that but that would be 
subject to further discussions.  
 
Lea Green Park and Ride – This was being delivered on behalf of St Helens as part 

of the Southern Corridor Scheme development and the Combined Authority would 

deliver a major upgrade to the park and ride facility at Lea Green. There had been 

problems at Lea Green car park for some years now and the funding they had got 

would help to resolve that problem. 

Liverpool South Parkway (LSP) Platform Extension – This tied in with the 

potential extension to the Avanti services going to two trains per hour between 

Liverpool and London on the west coast main line and ideally longer platforms were 

needed to cope with a potential west coast train stopping at that station. The design 

work was expected to be complete by March 2022. 

David Jones highlighted the following four key studies which related to the future use 

of the Transport Settlement: 

City Centre Commission – this related to the extension of the Northern Powerhouse 

rail services into the city centre and a potential new station in the city centre. A 

refresh of a study which was undertaken in 2017 was currently under way and output 

from that was expected soon.  

Page 17



New Stations Study – this built on work done in 2014 on the Long-term Rail 

Strategy. A series of stations had been identified and it would be necessary to review 

that to see if they were still relevant. There was also an operational issue – if a new 

station was put in was there an assurance that the trains could stop. Potentially there 

were timetabling issues in terms of the capacity onto the rail network. If changes 

were made to train stops then its profile and arrival time at other stations would be 

affected and that might impact on other services around the network.   

IPEMU Extension Study – this looked at all the possible extensions of the 

Merseyrail network and which ones we should be concentrating on and taking 

forward into the future.  

Port of Liverpool Freight Data Study – There was a high-level Freight Study 

currently under way to identify freight movements within the City Region and what 

could be shipped across to rail.  

Phil Saunders updated the Committee on Merseyrail Concessions:- 

In terms of performance and patronage over the pandemic Merseyrail had 

maintained the high level of performance which had been experienced before the 

pandemic. It was still rare if the PPM, which measured how late trains were arriving 

at the stations, fell below 96% and in fact there had been several 100% days over 

this period. This had been possible due to the agile approach which we have had 

with the operator and Network Rail – by changing timetables and changing levels and 

capacity of trains - and also by taking into account Merseyrail‟s ability to deliver it in a 

reliable and robust way. There had been real challenges around the availability of 

staff to actually drive the trains or be the guards on the trains and that had affected 

the number of circuits that could be made on the services.  

Passenger numbers were on the increase – around about 75% total recovery for 

Merseyrail and that could be broken down into leisure and commuters. Commuter 

numbers were in the region of 60-65% but that was not every single day. Leisure had 

been the real success story and over the last month or so it had been noticed that on 

weekends the numbers for leisure travel were over 100% of 2019 figures so there 

was a massive recovery in leisure usage. It was really important to understand when 

looking at future timetables, capacities and where our services should be delivered, 

that there was a slight change in the way people were behaving and that was being 

monitored and would be used to drive service delivery going forward.  

Over the next couple of week and months the biggest challenge would be the 

weather as frost etc could be a real enemy of railways with the result that there would 

be delays and trains breaking down. A successful approach had been in place over 

the years as a result of the work with Network Rail. He referred to timetables 

whereby the approach in previous years was to have a winter timetable but that did 

not need to be approached this year as a pulled back timetable was in place with 20 

minutes on most routes which gave a level of robustness and which meant that there 

was no need to cancel if a train was slightly delayed. However, there were more and 

more extreme weather situations affecting the network and last year had seen 

flooding and frost which had caused havoc to the infrastructure. Work had been 

undertaken to look at that and some actions and plans had been implemented to 

avoid the same situation occurring again.  

In regard to the timetable and capacity he had touched on the fact that there would 

not be a return to 15 minute services and the main reason for that was staff capacity. 

Unless there were enough drivers it was not possible to have enough circuits – it was 

Page 18



possible to push Merseyrail on this, but it would mean that services would not be 

reliable or robust. Small levels of sickness could equate to short term cancellations 

and it was important to ensure that the customer could rely on a timetable and make 

sure that the trains were running as scheduled and therefore it was proposed to stick 

to the 20 minute service for most of the services. 15 minute services would still run in 

a few areas, but where possible, and where there was demand and staff availability, 

extra services would be put in at peak times. Availability of staff was constantly being 

monitored with Merseyrail and there would be a push over the next week or so to 

ensure that the Christmas period was supported in the best way possible.  

The industry was moving to a SMART focussed ticketing offer. Platform validators 

were available on all Merseyrail stations that were not gated and were essential to 

plans for account based ticketing in the future. The next stage would be to get the 

infrastructure ready for the products and also to look at zones and schemes to 

ensure they were fit for the future.  

Lastly, Mal Drury-Rose gave a presentation on the issue of devolution. He stated that 

the Merseyrail concession was the Combined Authority‟s concession to 2028. There 

was a great deal going on in the rail industry at present and the Combined Authority 

were heavily involved to ensure that the right outcomes for the region were achieved. 

Recent discussions had now been undertaken with Department of Transport (DfT) 

officials to review the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) to consider how best 

the Combined Authority could take forward devolution proposals. The Combined 

Authority was working with the DfT and the Great British Railways Transition Team 

on a revised and updated MoU which would form the basis for these on-going 

discussions and would also consider a range of options as to how the Combined 

Authority could best influence future rail investment and train operations within the 

proposed new rail industry structure. 

More recently had been the announcement by Grant Shapps of the future 

restructuring of the rail industry and the proposal to bring both rail infrastructure and 

rail operation under the control of a new single body to be called Great British 

Railways. This was a merger of the train companies and British Rail to provide a 

quicker seamless type of operation. A transition team had been put in place; 

however, it would still be private contractors operating trains under a management 

contract. From the Combined Authority‟s point of view it was actively involved with 

Great British Railway, the transition team and the DfT as an opportunity to have more 

influence in the wider network which provided critical services to residents in the 

region. The Metro Mayor was keen to improve the influence that the Combined 

Authority had. One of the recommendations of the earlier workshop had been to put 

in place co-working office arrangements with Network Rail and Merseyrail Electrics, 

and the new “rail hub” located on the 8th floor of Mann Island came live as from the 

beginning of October. This provided, for the first time, a strategic sub-regional rail 

hub based at the Combined Authority Headquarters which would have a key role in 

progressing how future rail interventions within Liverpool City Region were effectively 

developed, managed and implemented going forward. 

In terms of rolling stock Mal Drury-Rose confirmed that weekly meetings were held 

with the Metro Mayor. The good news was that most of the new trains had now been 

produced and the 53rd unit had now been assembled in Poland. A number of units 

now been accepted which meant they were fit to run in passenger service.  

The Headbolt Lane extension was an ongoing project and would introduce the first 

battery power technology which meant that the third rail system would no longer be 

Page 19



required which would provide potential saving costs and would also assist with the 

decarbonisation agenda. It would also improve safety because there would not be a 

third live railway running into that part of the network.  

He confirmed that the power supply upgrade would be completed by the end of this 

year.  

Enabling works was underway at Network Rail for the eight car trains. The new trains 

were four carriages in length and would combine together to form an eight car unit. 

Some of the platforms would not be complete until the trains had been introduced so 

there would be a number of lines with four car operation for a short period of time, but 

the Combined Authority would be working with Merseyrail to mitigate that once the 

implementation plan was up and running. In general terms we were working really 

hard to get some of these issues resolved to introduce the new fleet next year.  

Phil Saunders added that the battery technology testing that had been undertaken 

live on the network had been very successful and some of the assumptions made on 

the battery levels had been very conservative which would put us in really good 

standing going forward. Also, the Combined Authority was working alongside 

Network 4 to look at the line speeds along different routes. Work had also been done 

on the Merseyrail network to see what benefits 777 might have on that. Several open 

days had been held for the trade and members of the public and they had been very 

successful as thousands of people had come along to look at the trains and positive 

comments had been received.  

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson referred to the battery trial and the fact 

that it would be better to say that out initial assessments were less ambitious. There 

was nothing conservative about our publicly owned trains.  

Councillor Allan Jones referred to pages 109 and 110 of the report in relation to the 

possibility of the new station at Carr Mill being shelved. The line ran from Liverpool to 

Wigan, and north of St. Helens the only station in the Merseyside area was 

Garswood. Garswood was a nice little station but it lacked car parking. If the aim was 

to encourage people to leave their cars and use public transport, then a station would 

be required which had a large car park such as was the plan for Carr Mill. This was 

something that had been talked about for a very long time and a station with a large 

car park north of the town centre would be essential.  

Councillor Robinson reassured Councillor Jones that it was not proposed to shelve 
the plans for a new station at Carr Mill. However, this was a complex railway project 
and further detailed feasibility work was required. It was noted that Carr Mill had 
actually been specifically mentioned in the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto as he felt that 
this was something that needed investigating.  
 
Councillor Lindsay Melia asked for details on the process for the naming of the 
Baltic/St James station for the benefit of Members and the public. She also referred 
to the public viewing of the new trains and she wanted to take the opportunity to 
thank all of the staff. In respect of the new station review she asked how local 
stakeholders were being engaged and how the viability and the local need or 
demand for each new station would be assessed. Also wanted to know what the 
criteria was that we were measuring against and how Members could feed into that. 
In relation to the battery trains she agreed with the comments made by Officers in 
that it was exciting to be pioneering this new technology and it was great that funding 
had been secured as there was potential for expansion and an opportunity to reduce 
carbon emissions.  

Page 20



 
Mal Drury-Rose replied that there was a proper process in place for the naming of 
the new station which had involved local Councillors in the area. A number of names 
had been shortlisted and that would be for the Metro Mayor and Councillor Robinson 
to consider a shortlist of three which would go out to the public for endorsement and 
hopefully a decision would be made by the Metro Mayor on the basis of that public 
vote. David Jones referred to the point made about the new station review and 
confirmed that it was about taking the work which had been undertaken the last time 
and looking at what things had changed around the possible location e.g. housing 
developments. It was hoped that the same consultants could be used as previously 
in order that the same process could be followed. Members had been involved the 
last time and he felt that there would be a Member workshop in which the operators 
would also be involved. The review would be expanded slightly to take into account 
the operational issues which needed to be looked at.  
 
Councillor Gordon Friel thanked everyone on the team for their hard work. What had 
been outlined was a resilience in the systems in our network which he was pleased 
about. He referred to leaf fall and asked if there was anything that could be done, like 
Northern Rail, whereby a piece of kit could be installed to keep that reliability. He did 
not want to get to December and see the good record we held go under as it was so 
important to people and their livelihoods. It was important to make sure that services 
were running smoothy and consistently.  
 
Mal Drury-Rose responded that he had extensive experience which gave him insight 
into colleagues in Merseyrail and Network Rail and he had already asked those 
questions around resilience. He referred to the tragic incident at Salisbury and he 
had already asked for an understanding of where we were with that in this region. 
Resilience was a real challenge in the industry particularly in relation to flooding. Phil 
Saunders added that the Officers monitored Merseyrail to ensure that they were 
doing these activities as an operator. There was a seasonal working group which met 
formally every two weeks, but there was also a daily update on the activities 
regarding the Multi-Purpose Vehicle (MPV) which treated the rail head. Minute by 
minute reports were received around performance on the rail to see if there were any 
incidents. Merseyrail had a good record when it came to performance as they wanted 
to go ahead of what the national areas were. The way that national looked at 
problems was sometimes by incidents and therefore Merseyrail might not get some 
information because their incidents were so low. The money tended to go where the 
problems were. However, it was noted that Merseyrail “punched well above their 
weight” when it came down to interventions from Network Rail. 
 
All of the directors and Network Rail directors had been challenged to give a view on 
the position around particular infrastructure issues. Northern Rail was different to this 
area where our problems were mostly related to the actual third rail and trains 
breaking down. The challenge around frost was usually manageable but the 
problems which had been seen last year with the weather had been unique and were 
few and far between and it was also difficult to pinpoint when and where problems 
would arise. It was about making sure there was proper proactive work in place and 
that the MPV train was doing its work It was also important to ensure that the driver 
technique could recognise these problems earlier and to stop and examine the rail. 
He had asked for assurance from Merseyrail to make sure that the train drivers were 
trained appropriately in this area.  
 
Councillor Jeanette Banks referred to page 110 of the agenda where it talked about 
the Liverpool Freight Data Study. She confirmed that Parkside Phase 1 had been 
approved in the borough of St. Helens and she knew that her MP and the Metro 

Page 21



Mayor had supported them massively in this and it would give 93,000sq.m. of new 
employment space which was wonderful, a new park side link road was in phase 1 
and she wondered how pivotal this would be for the free port plans for the Liverpool 
City Region freight.  
 
David Jones said his understanding was that the Parkside work had been completed 
and effectively passed to St Helens Council and it was their decision on how to go 
forward with it. It was slightly separate from the port of Liverpool but linked because 
of freight and how much freight could be diverted to the railway. He confirmed that 
the Combined Authority would support and work closely with St. Helens on that.  
 
Councillor Nathalie Nicholas referred to the new station study and once completed 
she asked if local schools could be engaged in this as it was an educational 
opportunity to get children engaged in the long term appreciation of the rail service in 
their area. David Jones confirmed that he would ensure that was picked up.  
 
Councillor Damien O‟Connor thanked Officers for the answer given to in respect of 
the new station at Carr Mill as St. Helens was pushing for this. In regard to the non-
step free stations which St. Helens had a number of, he asked whether there was a 
timescale when that work would be done. 
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson said at present this was at the 
investigatory stage of what might be possible and a workshop session with Members 
would take place in January 2022 to go through that work. It would involve significant 
infrastructure work and therefore we were not in a position to give timescales on 
individual stations at present. However, once that stage was complete a plan for the 
whole network could be put in place.   
 
 RESOLVED - that the report be noted.  
 
40. MULTI-OPERATOR AND MULTI-MODAL TICKETING SCHEME - 

PRODUCT AND PRICING UPDATE AND PROPOSALS  
 
The Committee considered the report of Merseytravel which sought approval of the 
ticketing recommendations relating to specific scheme arrangements, product and 
price changes for all Merseytravel multi-operator and multi-modal pre-paid tickets for 
2022.   
 
Gary Evans, Assistant Director for Customer Delivery advised that part of the annual 
price setting process was to set the prices for the multi-operator and multi-modal 
ticketing suite which consisted of Trio, Solo, Saveaway and Rail Pass tickets. The 
same process was followed last year and generally would involve picking up the RPI 
levels as at July each year and also take a range of other factors into play. That 
same process had been adopted this year. Some key points to highlight was that for 
the bus and multi-modal products – Solo, Trio and Saveaway – there had been no 
price increase last year due to Covid and the use of funding which had been received 
from Central Government. Therefore, the last increase had been in 2019 which was 
something to be mindful of.  
 
In setting the rates the 3.8% was obviously the rate of inflation as at July 2021 but 
since that date lots of organisations had faced increasing costs across a range of 
different settings. Increased costs had been seen in energy and that would have a 
significant impact for businesses as there was no price cap for energy. There had 
also been significant increases in fuel costs which would impact the bus services.  
 

Page 22



In bringing a recommendation forward it had been challenging but there was a need 
to set a balance. The danger of not increasing prices annually was that you would 
reach a position where that would not be sustainable. The recommendation was for a 
2% increase across ticket prices (Trio, Solo and Saveaway) apart from the Rail Pass 
product where the recommendation was that this would follow the National position, 
which was unknown as yet, up to a limit of 3.8% which was the rate of inflation. 
Nationally they usually followed the rate of inflation plus 1%, but the highest increase 
here would be 3.8%. There would be no ticket increases above the rate of inflation in 
this area which was the key message to get across. Ticket prices would usually be 
rounded to the nearest 10p and the child price would be half the fare of the adult 
price.   
 
Councillor Gordon Friel felt that the report had been realistic. Ideally the authority 
would like to keep prices the same as he was aware what was happening in respect 
of the cost of living. He felt that the recommendation in the report was sound.  
 
Councillor Nathalie Nicholas stated that ideally she would not like to see any increase 
in terms of tickets as the cost of living was going up significantly across the country. 
For many frontline staff bills were going up and for larger families sometimes it would 
be cheaper to take a taxi than to go by bus. She recognised the fact that it was not 
possible to go year on year without increasing fares. In terms of the equality and 
diversity implications it was good to see that these had been taken that into 
consideration and that that aspect had been highlighted.  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson thanked Officers for the report and 
agreed with the comments made. He said that it was important to bear in mind the 
practical realities of the situation we were in. The City Region was lucky in that it was 
one of the only regions outside of London which controlled the price setting of the 
multi-modal and multi-operator ticketing schemes. Other areas were controlled by 
ticketing companies. The comparable prices set here were cheaper than the 
comparable tickets in Greater Manchester or West Yorkshire, so the City Region did 
start from a better place, but it did not have a totally free hand on this. He referred to 
the Government‟s National Fares Policy on the rail network and because Northern 
Rail was half of our local rail network, we had to follow that because otherwise they 
would disengage from the scheme. There was also the element that legally a multi-
modal ticketing scheme was not allowed to compete directly with operator-owned 
products and that therefore limited the scope to cut fares.  
 
He referred to the work going on in relation to the devolved powers of buses that 
might well change and depending on whatever model was chosen we will probably 
move into a situation where the Combined Authority would have much more say on 
all bus tickets and fares in the future depending on the devolved work and that 
opened up a whole host of opportunities to put in place much more affordable fares 
across the network. The fact that the report was recommending a 2% increase, which 
was less than inflation, and was protecting My Ticket which was so vital for so many 
of the young people getting around the region, in the circumstances this was the best 
deal that could be achieved and he was therefore happy to endorse this increase and 
to move the recommendations as set out in the report.  
 

 RESOLVED - That approval be given for : 
 

(i) annual price recommendations for the Merseytravel Multi- Operator 
Ticketing Scheme products, to be fully implemented by the 4 January 2022 
(or August 2022 for Term time tickets) for Trio, Solo, My Ticket and 
Saveaway tickets as outlined in Appendix 1 of the report; and 

Page 23



 
(ii) annual price recommendations for the Merseytravel Railpass Multi-

Operator Rail Ticketing Scheme products, to be fully implemented in line 
with national increase in 2022 (or August 2022 for Term time tickets) as 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the report. 

 
41. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT - 1 APRIL 2021 TO 30 

SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
The Committee considered the report of Merseytravel which provided details of 
Merseytravel‟s financial performance for the period through to 30 September 2021.   
 
Sarah Johnston , Assistant Director, Finance highlighted the following key points:- 
 

 The first part of the report dealt with revenue performance and it was noted 
that there was an underspend of £6m on operational expenditure. The 
reasons for this were detailed however the two main areas were in respect of 
concessionary travel payments and rolling stock. Concession payments had 
been lower because operators were paid based on mileage. However, this 
was subject to a reconciliation process and would be likely to increase such 
that it was not expected that such a significant underspend would be seen at 
the end of the year. Rolling stock would be fully funded by way of reserves 
and that would lead to a reprofiling of expenditure.  

 

 The next part of the report was around capital and it was noted that a sum of 
£63.6m had been spent against a budget of £149m. Further details on 
variances and scheme costs were set out in the report.  

 

 The final part of the report related to the projected use of reserves and 
financial risk. This part of the report had been drafted on the assumption that 
spend would be in line with the budget and on that basis, it was assumed that 
£6.8m would be applied to Merseytravel reserves. Given where we are now 
the probability was that there would be a lower use of reserves as some of 
the risks identified through the budget setting process had reduced or 
changed. Members should note that at paragraph 3.8 there was a detailed 
explanation around risk and therefore whilst it was noted that it was possible 
to live within the budget in the current year there were risks that might 
manifest in the following year and it would be necessary to bear that in mind 
for the next budget setting process.   

 
Councillor Steve Foulkes noted that this budget had been set in a period when there 
had been a great deal of uncertainty around Covid and in terms of being able to 
predict the unpredictable it was felt that a good job had been done to come in with a 
balanced budget at the end of the year with some to be put into reserves. He felt that 
there would be a challenge next year and that was what had been intimated in the 
report. Members were kept well informed and fully aware of the risks in the future.  
 
RESOLVED - that the contents of the report be noted. 
 
42. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
No public questions had been received.  
 
43. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

Page 24



 
No petitions or statements were submitted for this meeting.  
 
44. CHAIRPERSON'S CLOSING REMARKS  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson announced that Shauna Healey from 
Democratic Services was attending her last meeting of the Transport Committee prior 
to her departure from the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  He thanked her 
for all her hard work over the years and he wished her all the best for her new role in 
the Fire Authority.  The Committee gave a round of applause. 
 
The Chairperson thanked everyone for their attendance and declared the meeting 
closed. 
 
  
 
Minutes 30 to 44 received as a correct record on the 13 day of January 2022. 
 

 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 4.45 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 

To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
  
Meeting:     13 January 2022 
 
Authorities Affected:    All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE TREASURER  
 

BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2022/23 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Members will be aware that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

has a statutory duty to agree a Levy for 2022/23 before 14 February 2022.  To 
assist the LCRCA in its deliberations, the Transport Committee will consider 
Merseytravel’s financial situation and recommend budget options. 

 
1.2 This report details the draft revenue budget and capital programme for Merseytravel 

for 2022/23.   
 
1.3 The budget report also provides details of the price/fares proposed for 2022/23 to 

which approval is sought. 
 
1.4 To allow Members to determine the revenue grants payable to Merseytravel in 

respect of general operations and Mersey Tunnels for 2022/23 and to recommend 
these to the LCRCA. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 It is recommended that the Transport Committee:- 

 
(a) request LCRCA to approve 2022/23 operating grants for both public transport 

and Mersey Tunnels operating activities as detailed in section 4 of this report; 
 

(b) consider and approve the decision in respect of fares/prices included within this 
report; and 
 

(c) request LCRCA to approve the capital programme as detailed in section 5. 
 
 

3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 The 2021/22 budget for transport was determined amid a context of unique 

uncertainty arising from the pandemic and in particular its impact on public 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



transport. As this financial uncertainty has receded, the picture for 2022/23 and 
beyond remains challenging.  Passenger numbers across public transport nationally 
look set to plateau at levels below the pre-pandemic peak while pressure on costs is 
increasing significantly. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the Authority’s financial strategy of achieving a financially 

sustainable position over the medium term without ongoing recourse to reserves, 
base budget increases have been limited to the impact of pay and the reduction in 
Special Rail Grant from Government.  No allowance for growth that cannot be 
funded within existing budgets has been made.  To ensure an overall balanced 
budget at the Combined Authority and Merseytravel level, savings have been 
sought from service areas and factored into the budget estimates. 

 
3.3 Whilst Merseytravel is funded predominantly through grant there are a number of 

areas in which services have the ability to generate income.  As part of the budget 
setting process, services with the ability to generate fees and charges review the 
levels at which these should be set for the forthcoming year. 

 
3.4 Despite the need to generate significant savings, transport remains key to the City 

Region’s ambitions for economic growth – and crucially – its ambition to achieve net 
zero carbon.  The ongoing rolling stock replacement programme alongside the 
current Transforming Cities Fund investments represents a highly significant 
transport capital programme and this is likely to be supplemented beyond 2022/23 
by further CRSTS funding. 

 
3.5 Through the 2022/23 budget, the Metro Mayor has set a clear direction of travel 

towards both financial and environmental sustainability. 
 
 
4. MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGETS 2022/23 
 

MERSEY TUNNELS 
 
4.1 Whilst the Mersey Tunnels are assets of the LCRCA, day to day operation of the 

tunnels has been formally delegated to Merseytravel.  Gross income from the 
tunnels for 2022/23 is forecast to be £39.5m, subject to the LCRCA approving the 
recommendation made by the Transport Committee on 13th January 2022 in respect 
of the schedule of tolls applicable in 2022/23. 

 
4.2 From this revenue, an operating grant will be made to Merseytravel to fund the day 

to day operation of the tunnels alongside necessary capital investment.  The 
estimated grant for the operation of the Mersey Tunnels for 2022/23 is £21.89m. 

 
4.3 As the Tunnels are the assets of the LCRCA, any income generated over that 

required to meet the operational costs of the Tunnels is passed back to the LCRCA.  
Tunnels revenues are also used by the LCRCA to fund its other transport priorities, 
such as the Mersey Ferries in accordance with the County of Merseyside Act 1980 
(the 1980 Act) as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 2004.   

 
4.4 Although Merseytravel has delegated authority for the day to day operation of the 

Tunnels, it is not a Merseytravel service and consequently responsibility for 
determining the level of tolls payable for the use of Mersey Tunnels rests with 

Page 28



LCRCA.  Consequently, this report does not cover the setting of tolls for 2022/23 as 
this is subject to a separate report to the LCRCA. 

 
 MERSEYTRAVEL TRANSPORT ACTIVITIES 
 
4.5 The table below details the proposed revenue budget for Merseytravel for 2022/23 

and the projected outturn for 2021/22.   
 
Table 1 Merseytravel Summary Budget  
 

  Projected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Forward 
Estimate 
2022/23 

£'000 £'000 

Corporate Management & Support Services 10,004 8,509 

Transport Services 105,906 109,209 

Total Expenditure 115,910 117,719 

Funded by   

Merseytravel Operating Grant (93,293) (95,827) 

Mersey Tunnels Operating Grant (22,617) (21,892) 

Total Income (115,910) (117,719) 

Net Requirement 0 0 

 
4.6 The table below provides a more detailed breakdown of the proposed revenue 

budget for 2022/23.  A more granular analysis is included at Appendix One. 
 
Table 2 Merseytravel Service Level Proposed Budget 2022/23 
 

Service Area Projected 
Outturn 

2021/2022 
£’000 

Proposed 
Budget 

2022/2023 
£’000 

Bus 17,994 18,366 

Rail 7,276 7,203 

Rolling Stock 1,222 4,333 

Concessionary Travel 47,381 47,381 

Ferries 1,784 862 

Mersey Tunnels 16,435 15,892 

Customer Delivery 3,206 4,325 

Policy & LTP 282 412 

Asset Management 9,901 10,436 

Director of Place* 425 173 

Corporate Services Recharge 3,625 2,955 

Corporate Development & Delivery Recharge 6,045 5,021 

Corporate Costs 334 360 

Total 115,910 117,719 
* Director of Place comparator costs for 21/22 include the costs associated with the Interim Director of Transport role. 

  

Page 29



 
4.7 To more accurately reflect the fact that support services (Finance, Legal, Internal 

Audit, PMO, IT and HR) are provided to both Merseytravel and the Combined 
Authority, costs have been aggregated and an appropriate proportion of the costs 
recharged accordingly. 

 
4.8 It is proposed that the grant to Merseytravel to support service provision, which is 

funded through the Levy, for 2022/23 is £95.82m, which cover the operational costs 
associated with Merseytravel and a grant to cover the revenue costs associated 
with the Rolling Stock project.   

 
4.9 The Tunnels Operating grants for 2022/23 is £21.89m, which is an increase of 

£800k when compared with the budgeted grant for 2021/22.  In keeping with the 
treatment adopted in 2021/22 the debt servicing element of Tunnels expenditure are 
budgeted and accounted for within the LCRCA budget. 

 
4.10 The medium term financial position at the Combined Authority level highlights that 

to ensure that a balanced budget is maintained over the next 4-5 years, without 
further increases to resources, it is likely that current service provision will become 
unsustainable and there will be a need to review service levels and policy decisions 
to ensure that transport services remain affordable.  Consequently, there will be a 
process initiated once the 2022/23 budget has been set to identify options for 
balancing the budgets from 2023/24 onwards.  This will be conveyed through to 
Members as the process gains shape.  Members of the Transport Committee will be 
fully involved throughout this process and provide political oversight alongside 
Overview and Scrutiny and the Combined Authority itself. 

 
 
5.0 MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
5.1. The revised 2021/22 and draft 2022/23 capital programme are summarised below.  

The total revised capital programme for 2021/22 is £148.8m and for 2022/23 is 
£140.4m including tunnels.  A detailed breakdown of the capital programme is 
included at Appendix Two. 

 
Table 3 Merseytravel Summary Capital Programme 
 

Service Area 2021/2022 
£’000 

2022/2023 
£’000 

Bus 10,069 0 

Rail 25,611 64,664 

Rolling Stock 94,159 57,631 

Ferries 8,210 0 

Tunnels 6,890 15,244 

Hubs 170 0 

IT 1,076 400 

Smart Ticketing 1,137 0 

Corporate Strategy 1,349 0 

Corporate Services 20 0 

Mann Island 90 0 

Transport Capital Pot 0 2,500 

Total  148,781 140,439 

Page 30



 
5.1.2 The initial capital programme for Merseytravel for 2022/23 is based on the delivery 

of those existing schemes for which there is a contractual commitment and funding 
secured via the Combined Authority (be that through grants or committed 
borrowing).  Whilst a further capital ask was made to support smaller scale 
interventions on the transport network, with no direct route through to funding it was 
not possible for this ask to be agreed in full.  Consequently, a sum of £2.5m is to be 
delegated to the Executive Director of Place to work with the Transport service 
areas to prioritise safety critical schemes whilst a more fundamental review of asset 
management planning and funding is undertaken.  This pot will be funded through a 
grant of £2.1m from the Combined Authority plus a £0.4m contribution from 
Merseytravel reserves. 

 
5.1.3 Notwithstanding the current low levels of capital activity currently proposed, it is 

envisaged that there will be significant transport capital spend delivered by 
Merseytravel through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement.  Whilst an 
indicative five-year allocation of £710m has been awarded to the Combined 
Authority, confirmation of funding and schemes is contingent on successful 
submission of business cases through the DfT.  This deadline for submission is the 
end of January 2022 and therefore the timescales are not coterminous with budget 
setting.  It is therefore envisaged that a revised capital programme will be tabled 
later in the year when there is more certainty around schemes and funding. 

 
 
6. FEES AND CHARGES 
 

MERSEY FERRIES 
 
6.1 The 2022/23 allowed budget for Mersey Ferries (excluding The Beatles Story) 

showed a deficit of £0.9m excluding recharges.  As Mersey Ferries is a company 
limited by guarantee, this means that a grant is required from Merseytravel to allow 
the company to break even.  This grant is met through the Merseytravel operational 
grant, which in turn is funded by the Levy. 

 
6.2 Mersey Ferries prices were referred to in the Mersey Ferries Long Term Strategy, 

endorsed by Transport Committees predecessor Committee ( the Merseytravel 
Committee) in January 2016, indicating that prices should increase annually by RPI 
plus 1%.  However in setting prices for what is primarily a leisure attraction, it does 
not present a clear pricing arrangement unless increased in multiples of 50p or 
more.  

 
6.3 Ferries prices have been frozen since 2019/20.  Given the impact of the Covid 19 

pandemic and the challenges that were faced with patronage levels, it was not felt 
appropriate to increase them in 2021/22.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the impact 
of Covid may still impact on the service, the impacts of inflation are such that it is 
felt appropriate to seek a price increase for 2022/23.  The schedule of increases is 
included at Appendix Three.  Subject to the proposed fare increases being 
approved, ferries income would increase by £70k. 

  

Page 31



SUPPORTED BUS SERVICES FARES 
 
6.4 Currently Merseytravel operates its own fares policy on the supported bus service 

network.  The adult single cash fare is £2.10 whereas the average commercial fare 
is circa £2.34.  Similarly Merseytravel charges £1.00 for a single child fare (age 5-
18) whereas commercial fares are usually half of the adult price. 

 
6.5 Merseytravel has consistently expressed a desire to maintain fares at an affordable 

level for passengers.  At the same time commercial operators have applied higher 
than inflationary increases on their services.  This has led to the current differential 
between commercial and supported bus fares.   

 
6.6 For 2022/23 it is proposed to freeze fares at their 2021/22 level.  The region is 

currently experiencing a number of issues relating to bus and therefore officers do 
not consider it to be the right time to increase bus fares.  Bus patronage has been 
impacted by Covid 19 through restrictions and guidance to work from home.  The 
long term impact on patronage remains uncertain as levels are still significantly 
below pre pandemic levels and with the key driver being encouraging people to 
return to public transport, it is felt that now is not the time to increase fares. 

 
 BUS STATION DEPARTURE CHARGES 
 
6.7 Bus station departure charges relate to commercial bus operators’ use of 

Merseytravel bus station facilities.  The current bus station agreements allow for 
charges to be increased by a maximum of RPI plus 2%.  This is a maximum and 
there is flexibility to propose increases below this level. For 2022/23 it is proposed 
that a 2% increase is applied.  The table below details the charges to be applied 
across all staffed and unstaffed locations.  Subject to the proposed increases being 
approved this would generate an additional £30k in income for the service. 

 
 Table 4 Bus Station Departure Charges 
 

 2022/23 Rate 
£ 

Period 
Applicable 

Staffed bus station departure rates   

Standard rate 0.508 Per departure 

Rate 1 0.252 Per departure 

Rate 2 0.305 Per departure 

Rate 3 0.331 Per departure 

Rate 4 0.407 Per departure 

Rate 5 1.017 Per departure 

Unstaffed bus station departure rates   

Standard rate 0.180 Per departure 

Rate 1 0.090 Per departure 

Rate 2 0.108 Per departure 

Rate 3 0.117 Per departure 

Rate 4 0.144 Per departure 

Rate 5 0.361 Per departure 

 
  

Page 32



7. FINANCIAL RISK AND RESERVES POSITION 
 
7.1 The table below details the reserves position for Merseytravel taking account of the 

projected use of reserves in 2021/22 and 2022/3. 
 

Table 5 Merseytravel Reserves 
 

 Balance as at 
1 April 2022 

£’000 

Utilisation in 
Year 
£’000 

Balance at 31 
March 2023 

£’000 

Capital Reserves 
Earmarked Reserves 
Revenue/ Working Balances 

1,994 
45,208 

4,619 

(400) 
0 
0 

1,594 
45,208 

4,619 

Total 51,821 (400) 51,421 

 
7.2 As far as practicable, an in line with the policy previously agreed by Merseytravel, 

the application of reserves to support the budget have been minimised.  Any 
proposed use of reserves should be in relation to specific costs or as part of an 
invest to save/ transformation programme.  The only exception is in respect of a 
small contribution of £0.4m towards the capital programme to cover committed 
costs. 

 
7.3 Whilst the budget has been set using the most robust estimates available and most 

current information available to support budget setting, there are a number of 
underlying costs pressures and risks that the organisation faces, specifically in 
relation to bus contract prices.   

 
7.4 At the time of setting its budget, the Combined Authority has not received 

notification from government of Bus Service Improvement Programme (BSIP) 
allocations for 2022-23 and beyond.  This funding will be central to managing the 
risks relating to bus services and as such, a provision has been made within the 
budget by way of specific bus reserves to manage these risks in the event that BSIP 
monies are insufficient to meet future financial requirements relating to bus 
services. 

 
7.5 Under the Merseyrail concession the Combined Authority through Merseytravel has 

significant financial liabilities arising from reductions in grant funding from the 
Department for Transport.  We are currently involved in contractual discussions with 
both Merseyrail and DfT and this is a further potential risk to future budgets for rail. 

 
7.6 These risks sit alongside the risks arising from our rolling stock project where 

changes in the operating environment related to COVID and other factors mean that 
the assumptions contained within the original business case will need to be revisited 
once trains are in service. 

 
7.7 A significant body of the work programmed in the capital programme relates to rail 

enhancements and the replacement of the rolling stock.  Much of the work 
associated with this is contracted through Network Rail who operate on an 
emerging cost basis, whereby increases in costs flow back to the client.  Experience 
has demonstrated that there is a significant degree of uncertainty and risk of cost 
increase arising from such schemes.  Whilst every effort has been made to ensure 

Page 33



estimates are prudent and reliable there remains a risk that costs on these schemes 
could increase which would necessitate the identification of additional funding wither 
through grant or additional borrowing. 

 
 
8. Human Resources 
  

None as a direct result of this report. 
 

 
9. Physical Assets  

 
This report will provide resources to Merseytravel to undertake its asset 
management function in respect of the Mersey Tunnels and other LCRCA assets. 
 
 

10. Information Technology  
 
None as a direct result of this report. 
 

 
11. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 
12. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Merseytravel has a duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 

and foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.  Whilst the level of detail contained within this budget does not 
lend itself to a full appraisal of the operational implications with respect to equality 
and diversity, it is possible that there could be resultant implications for people who 
share a protected characteristic, for example older disabled people.  Therefore 
whilst there are no issues with the budget itself, any actions undertaken as part of 
the management of any savings, the equalities consequences will be fully appraised 
and any negative implications for any of the protected characteristics will be 
mitigated, where possible, subject to available resources. 

 
 
13. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

None directly arising from the report. 
 
 
14. CONCLUSION 
 
14.1 Revenue spend for the current year is in line to outturn in line with the current 

revised estimates.   
 
14.2 The draft revenue budget for 2022/23 is based on robust estimates and funding 

confirmed to the Merseytravel. 

Page 34



 
14.3 Revenue estimates incorporate the proposed fares in respect of Ferries, Hubs and 

Bus. 
 
14.4 Capital programme spend indicates a proposed capital spend of £148.8m and 

£140.4m for 2021/22 and 2022/23 respectively. 
 
14.5 The Director of Corporate Services is able to give his assurances that the estimates 

contained within the draft budget are robust and that adequate reserves exist to 
meet foreseeable events. 

 
 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Treasurer  

 
 
 
Contact Officers:- 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015) 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport), (0151 330 1129) 
 
Appendices:- 
Appendix One – Merseytravel Revenue Budget 2022/23 
Appendix Two – Merseytravel Capital Programme 2022/23 
Appendix Three – Mersey Ferries Pricing Proposals 
 
 
Background Documents:- 
None 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Asset Management
Total Employees 6,888,648 7,403,500 514,852
Total Premises 5,085,353 5,024,353 (61,000)
Total Transport 228,655 128,655 (100,000)
Total Supplies & Services 306,116 186,264 (119,852)
Total Income (2,464,773) (2,306,773) 158,000
Total Asset Management 10,044,000 10,436,000 392,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Bus Services
Total Employees 2,643,830 2,809,513 165,683
Total Premises 119,505 119,505 0
Total Transport 96,930 81,930 (15,000)
Total Supplies & Services 3,745,100 3,432,417 (312,683)
Total Third Party Payments 21,371,423 21,371,423 0
Total Income (9,305,787) (9,448,787) (143,000)
Total Bus Services 18,671,000 18,366,000 (305,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Concessionary Travel
Total Third Party Payments 58,196,717 57,196,717 (1,000,000)
Total Income (9,815,717) (9,815,717) 0
Total Concessionary Travel 48,381,000 47,381,000 (1,000,000)

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGETS 2022/23 BY SERVICE AREA

Page 37



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Customer Delivery
Total Employees 4,095,542 4,520,530 424,988
Total Premises 1,908,712 1,774,712 (134,000)
Total Transport 5,639 5,639 0
Total Supplies & Services 565,671 552,671 (13,000)
Total Income (2,432,551) (2,528,551) (96,000)
Total Customer Delivery 4,143,012 4,325,000 181,988

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Ferries Group
Total Employees 1,973,866 2,107,892 134,026
Total Premises 1,148,952 1,148,952 0
Total Transport 10,161 10,161 0
Total Vessels 696,751 696,751 0
Total Supplies & Services 283,477 259,451 (24,026)
Total Income (2,059,208) (3,361,208) (1,302,000)
Total Mersey Ferries Group 2,054,000 862,000 (1,192,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Policy and LTP Development
Total Employees 499,496 442,496 (57,000)
Total Transport 1,900 1,900 0
Total Supplies & Services 6,000 4,000 (2,000)
Total Income (121,396) (36,396) 85,000
Total Policy and LTP Development 386,000 412,000 26,000

Page 38



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rail Services
Total Employees 881,193 916,505 35,312
Total Premises 262,357 254,045 (8,312)
Total Transport 8,240 2,240 (6,000)
Total Supplies & Services 836,030 815,030 (21,000)
Total Third Party Payments 106,700,110 110,998,110 4,298,000
Total Income (101,400,931) (105,782,931) (4,382,000)
Total Rail Services 7,287,000 7,203,000 (84,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Tunnels - Direct Costs
Total Employees 4,819,703 5,120,717 301,014
Total Premises 2,192,075 2,192,075 0
Total Transport 129,692 129,692 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,192,280 961,266 (231,014)
Total Third Party Payments 8,251 8,251 0
Total Other Costs 7,480,000 7,480,000 0
Total Mersey Tunnels Direct Costs 15,822,000 15,892,000 70,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rolling Stock
Total Employees 590,147 617,033 26,886
Total Transport 35,444 15,446 (19,998)
Total Supplies & Services 1,162,136 1,914,597 752,461
Total Other Costs 2,422,108 5,203,374 2,781,266
Total Income (2,987,835) (3,417,450) (429,615)
Total Rolling Stock 1,222,000 4,333,000 3,111,000

Page 39



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Corporate Costs
Total Employees 550,000 509,000 (41,000)
Total Supplies & Services 460,000 160,000 (300,000)
Total Other Costs 10,000 10,000 0
Total Income (319,000) (319,000) 0
Total Corporate Costs 701,000 360,000 (341,000)

Page 40



       Appendix Two

SCHEME £'000

Rail
Headbolt Lane 48,975    
Lea Green 7,358       
St James 2,461       
Access for All 5,870       

64,664    
Rolling Stock
Manufacture and supply units 30,095    
Depot Costs 532          
Power Infrastructure 4,066       
Train Lengthening 20,937    
Train Connectivity 2,001       

57,631    
Tunnels
Kingsway Fan Grill Repair 450          
Vauxhall Drainage Concrete Repairs and Waste Land Clearance 100          
Kingsway Concrete and Painting Repairs 100          
Chester St & Albion St Roof Replacements 100          
Vent Building Remedials 200          
Queensway Tunnel Concrete Repairs 400          
Kingsway Wallasey Embankments Stabilisation 300          
Environmental Monitoring 20            
Kingsway Safety Enhancements 300          
Mainsaver Upgrade 30            
Kingsway Pipework 3,000       
Kingsway fire suppression replacement 85            
Implement Mersey Tunnels Minimum Operating Requirements 20            
Kingsway Ventilation Enhancements 100          
Queensway Fire Suppression Replacement 80            
Tunnels – HVAC Replacements/Upgrades 350          
Queensway Switchgear Replacement 585          
Upgrade of Mobile Radio Service 50            
In-Tunnel communications 120          
Police Vehicles 200          
Vehicle Restraint Kingsway 250          
SCADA development 200          
Queensway – Install Environmental Monitoring Equipment 75            
Building Decarbonisation Bid 336          
Queensway Tunnel Demolition of Flyover and Redesign of Plaza Area 7,793       

15,244    

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23

Page 41



       Appendix Two

SCHEME £'000

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23

IT
Cloud Onboarding 100          
PCI & Cyber Assurance 30            
Performance Management System 80            
SIP Trunks 20            
Tech Refresh - Backup Infrastructure 50            
Tech Refresh - Tolls Xenteo Replacement 70            
Tech Refresh - Laptops 20            
Tech Refresh - Mobiles 10            
Tech Refresh - Servers Required 20            

400          
Transport Capital Expenditure
To be Allocated 2,500       

2,500       

TOTAL MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23 140,439  

Page 42



APPENDIX THREE
FERRIES PRICING PROPOSALS

Current Proposed 
TICKET  TYPE 2021/21 2022/23

(£) (£)
COMMUTER
COMMUTER SINGLE ADULT (AM) 2.80 2.90
SHUTTLE SINGLE CHILD (AM) 1.40 1.45
SHUTTLE RETURN ADULT (AM) 3.70 3.80
SHUTTLE RETURN CHILD (AM) 1.85 1.90

WEEKLY SAVER 15.00 15.00
MONTHLY SAVER 63.00 63.00
3 MONTHLY SAVER 158.00 158.00
ANNUAL SAVER 545.00 545.00

RIVER EXPLORER
ADULT CROSS RIVER 6.00 6.50
CONCESSION CROSS RIVER 5.00 5.50
CHILD CROSS RIVER 4.50 5.00
ADULT FULL CRUISE 11.00 11.50
CHILD FULL CRUISE 7.00 7.50
FAMILY FULL CRUISE - 4 people 30.00 32.00
FAMILY FULL CRUISE - 5 people n/a 35.00
CONCESSION FULL CRUISE 9.50 10.00
WHOLESALER/FIT RATE FULL CRUISE + 20 7.50 8.00
GROUPS RATE FULL CRUISE + 20 8.50 9.00
MERSEYSIDE CONCESION CRUISE UPGRADE 3.50 4.00

MANCHESTER SHIP CANAL CRUISE
ADULT 45.00 46.00
CHILD/OAP
COACH GROUP PRICE 40.00

SUMMER EVENING CRUISES
SUMMER EVENING CRUISE ADULT 16.00 20.00

CHARTERS
Second Boat Charters & Friday/ Sat Evenings
3 HOUR CHARTER HIRE SECOND BOAT 3,600.00 3,600.00
SUBSEQUENT HOURLY CHARGE 1,000.00 1,000.00

RUNNING BOAT/ Mid Week
2 HOUR CHARTER BETWEEN 7 AND 9PM 1,200.00 1,300.00
HOURLY CHARGE 1,000.00 1,000.00

MSCC CHARTER 1 DAY 15,500.00 16,000.00

All prices include VAT where applicable

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
  
Meeting:     13 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All Areas 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

MERSEY TUNNEL TOLLS 2022/23 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority ("the LCRCA") is responsible 
for determining the level of tolls ("the tolls") payable for use of the Mersey 
Tunnels ("the Tunnels"). 

 
1.2 This report is intended to assist the LCRCA by allowing the following issues 

to be explained and discussed by the Transport Committee and for a 
recommendation to be made to the LCRCA on the level of tolls. This report 
will: 

 
(a) outline the legal procedure for revising the level of the tolls; 
 
(b) summarise the current level of tolls; and 
 
(c) make proposals for the level of tolls payable in 2022/23. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Balancing the different factors associated with setting the Mersey Tunnel tolls, the 

Transport Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a)  note the contents of this report; 
 

 (b) note the level of “authorised tolls” for the Mersey Tunnels as determined by 
the County of Merseyside Act 1980 (as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 
2004), with details on calculation methods explained in section 3 of this 
report;  

 
(c) recommend that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority implement a 

schedule of tolls contained in Table 1 below with effect from Friday 1 April 
2022: -  

 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



 
  

 
 
  

Vehicle 
Class 

Authorised 
Toll 22/23 
(November 
RPI) 

2022/23 
Cash Toll  

2022/23 Fast 
Tag Toll – 

LCR 
Resident* 

2022/23 Fast 
Tag Toll – 
Non LCR 
Resident 

1 £2.30 £2.00 £1.20 £2.00 

2 £4.50 £4.00 £2.80 £2.80 

3 £6.80 £6.00 £4.20 £4.20 

4 £9.10 £8.00 £5.60 £5.60 

 *Liverpool City Region (LCR) resident defined as living within the electoral 
boundaries of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral;  

 
 (d) recommend that the LCRCA continue to offer the discounts/ concessions set out 

in paragraph 3.14 of this report for 2022/23; and.  
 
 (e) recommend that the LCRCA allocate up to £500k as per paragraph 3.16 and to 

instruct officers to explore the opportunities of implementing toll discounts as a trial 
with the specific aim to encourage cross river public transport use, with the final 
approval of any specific trial discount be delegated to the Director General, 
Merseytravel in consultation with the LCRCA Treasurer and the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1  The tunnels were built as a joint venture by the Merseyside local authorities and, as 

such, their upkeep and maintenance remain outside of the national highway 
network and so is not funded through road tax or general taxation. 

 
3.2 The County of Merseyside Act 1980 ("the 1980 Act"), as amended by the Mersey 

Tunnels Act 2004 ("the 2004 Act"), sets out the procedure for revising the tolls.  
Under Section 91(7) of the 1980 Act, the LCRCA must make an Order in February 
of each year ("a Section 91 Order") fixing the amount of tolls payable by each class 
of vehicle from the following April.  There are four prescribed classes of vehicles, 
each with subcategories, as follows: 

 
 

Class Subcategories 

1. (a) Motor cycle with side car and 3 wheeled vehicle. 

 (b) Motor car and goods vehicle up to 3.5 tonnes 
gross weight. 

 (c) Passenger vehicle other than a motor car with 
seating capacity for under 9 persons. 

2. (a) Motor car and goods vehicle up to 3.5 tonnes 
gross weight, with trailer. 

 (b) Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 
two axles. 

 (c) Passenger vehicle with seating capacity for 9 or 
more persons, with two axles. 

Page 46



3. (a) Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 
three axles. 

 (b) Passenger vehicle with seating capacity for 9 or 
more persons, with three axles. 

4. Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 4 or 
more axles. 

 
 

3.3 The overriding presumption in the 1980 Act (as amended) is that tolls rise in line 
with inflation, so preserving their value in real terms.  The increase in the tolls 
authorised by the legislation (the "authorised tolls") is calculated by: 

 
(a) taking the "base" toll amounts set out in Section 91(6) of the 1980 Act 

for each class; 
 
(b) increasing them by the same percentage increase as the rise in the 

Retail Prices Index ("RPI") from November 1999 ("the base month") to 
the November immediately preceding the making of the Section 91 
Order; and then 

 
(c) rounding the new value up or down to the nearest ten pence. 

 
3.4 Section 92C of the 1980 Act also gives the LCRCA discretion to reduce the amount 

of actual tolls payable by any particular class of traffic or payment type to less than 
the authorised toll where it is deemed necessary or appropriate to do so having 
regard to matters of an economic or social nature within the City Region. 
 

3.5 When making decisions on the amount of tolls to be levied, it is very important that 
the LCRCA must consider the purpose of the legislation with respect to the level of 
toll. In particular: 

 
(a) the relative costs of using the Mersey Tunnels must keep pace with 

other transport alternatives; 
 
(b) it ensures that sufficient funds are available to cover the costs of 

operating and maintaining the Mersey Tunnels, including the 
repayment of the historic debt relating to the construction and 
operation of the Mersey Tunnels 

 
3.6 Following the discharge of these financial responsibilities, the 2004  Act allows the 

City Region to generate a surplus of income over immediate expenditure. The 
purpose of this is to provide sufficient resources for long term asset management of 
the tunnels, including capital financing requirements related to major schemes to 
ensure business continuity and safe operation. 
 

3.7 In addition, the 2004 Act allows the City Region to benefit from tunnel revenue by 
making any surpluses not identified for the tunnels themselves to be made available 
to finance other transport infrastructure priorities across the City Region. 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Authorised Tolls – 2022/23 
 
3.8 In determining a schedule for tolls in any given year, the legislation is clear that the 

starting point must be the authorised toll. The level of the authorised toll is 
calculated each December based on the retail price index for the previous 
November. 

 
3.9 The RPI in November 2021 dictates the following levels of “authorised tolls” for the 

Mersey Tunnels from 1 April 2022. For the benefit of Members, the table below 
shows the difference from the previous year also: 

 
  

Vehicle Class Authorised Toll 2021/22 Authorised Toll 2022/23 

1 £2.10 £2.30 

2 £4.20 £4.50 

3 £6.30 £6.80 

4 £8.50 £9.10 

 
 
3.10 The following table shows the tolls payable over the past five years and compares 

the amount of toll that could have been levied (i.e. the “authorised toll”, being that 
reflecting the rise in inflation) against the “actual” tolls, as well as the additional 
discount for Fast Tag users: 

 
Class Toll Apr 

‘17 
Apr ‘18 Apr ‘19 Apr ‘20 Apr ‘21 

1 Authorised £1.90 £2.00 £2.00 £2.00 £2.10 

Actual Cash £1.70 £1.80 £1.80 £1.80 £1.80 

Fast Tag £1.20 £1.20 £1.80/ £1 £1.80/ £1 £1.80/£1 

2 Authorised £3.70 £4.00 £4.10 £4.10 £4.20 

Actual Cash £3.40 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 

Fast Tag £2.40 £2.40 £2.40 £2.40 £2.40 

3 Authorised £5.60 £6.00 £6.10 £6.10 £6.30 

Actual Cash £5.10 £5.40 £5.40 £5.40 £5.40 

Fast Tag £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 

4 Authorised £7.50 £7.90 £8.20 £8.20 £8.50 

Actual Cash £6.80 £7.20 £7.20 £7.20 £7.20 

Fast Tag £4.80 £4.80 £4.80 £4.80 £4.80 

 
 

Current Tunnel Usage Data 
 

3.11 A key indicator for Members to consider when determining toll levels is the existing 
usage data for the Mersey Tunnels. Attached as Appendix A is a line graph showing 
total toll paying vehicles through the Tunnels since January 2000. This data tracks 
actual usage and average trends, taking out specific factors such as large events 
and other seasonal impacts. This data helps to demonstrate the impacts Covid-19 
has had on traffic usage, and this is likely transferred to economic outputs. 
However, the impact of this economic downturn has not been the toll, but more the 
wider impacts of the pandemic itself. Traffic levels continue to a trend towards 
returning to pre-covid levels. 
 

3.12 Another key factor for members to consider is the percentage of customers who use 
either cash, bank card or Fast Tag as payment methods through the Tunnel. The 

Page 48



table below sets out the percentage of Cash and Fast Tag customers across all 
classes as at November 2021. Following the toll changes made in April 2019, 
introducing the Liverpool City Region discounted Fast Tag toll, around 50% used 
the scheme in a full year and the table below shows that nearly 45% of journeys 
used the discounted Fast Tag scheme in November this year. The migration to card 
payments from cash has been as a direct result of the impacts of Covid-19: - 
 
 
 
 
 
**Details in the table above are based on November 2021 

 
3.13 One key issue Members must be aware of is the pandemic is on-going and it is 

increasingly difficult to predict the economic and social impacts of the pandemic. 
However, there is a growing trend that return to car travel through the tunnels is 
greater than any mode of public transport, where recovery levels are lower. This 
would indicate a preference for car travel in favour of public transport as a result of 
the pandemic.  Should this trend continue, this would be detrimental to the City 
Region’s zero carbon and air quality ambitions. 

 
Additional Discounts 
 
3.14 As part of the on-going Tunnel tolls review process, a number of discounts are 

offered as part of the Tunnel tolls setting process for 2021/22. These are: - 
 

 All emergency service liveried vehicles to be allowed free travel through the 
Mersey Tunnels; 

 Travel through the Mersey Tunnels between 10pm on 24th December and 
6.00am on 26th December each year be allowed free in recognition that 
public transport services are not available during these times. 

 A reduced Fast Tag charge for Fast Tag account holders who are resident 
within the Liverpool City Region. This discount will be available for class 1 
vehicles and applicable to just private Fast Tag accounts, not business 
account Tag holders. 

 The existing Tunnels disabled concessionary travel scheme. 

 That Taxi and private hire vehicles that are class 2 vehicles are discounted to 
class 1 rates. 

 As well as the above, officers will make operational decisions on occasions 
for the safe and efficient operation of the Mersey Tunnels and collection of 
tolls. 

 
3.15 It is proposed that these discounts/ concessions remain in place during 2022/23. 
 
3.16 It is also proposed that officers explore the opportunities of offering further toll 

discounts as a trial with the specific aim of encouraging cross river public transport 
use, with final approval of any specific discounts for 2022/23 be delegated to the 
Director General, Merseytravel, in consultation with the LCRCA Treasurer and 
Monitoring Officer. 

  

Cash Bank Card LCRCA 
Discount Tag 

Standard Fast 
Tag 

Pay by Plate 

17.26% 25.11% 44.87% 12.61% 0.15% 

Page 49



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
  The measures outlined above have been accommodated in the budget setting 

process for 2022/23 and will see income from toll revenue for 2022/23 increase by 
approximately £4.5m per annum. The impact on Covid-19 has seen traffic volumes 
reduce by varying amounts dependent upon the various lockdown restrictions. For 
budget setting purpose officers have assumed 90% of traffic volumes compared 
with pre-covid usage. This reduction in traffic and increase in some of the tolls will 
see an increase in the Mersey Tunnels revenue budget of circa £4.5m for 2022/23. 
It must be stressed that this figure will vary dependent upon the level of usage 
which is more difficult to predict with any certainty, particularly in the event of any 
further covid related restrictions.   

  
4.2 Human Resources 
 
   There are no specific HR related issues associated with this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
 There are no specific Asset related issues associated with this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

There are no IT related issues associated with this report. 
 
4.5 PMO Implications 
 
 There are no PMO implications associated with this report. 
 
 
5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 The risks associated with this report have been considered and mitigated through 

effective budget planning, balanced against the need to ensure regular on-going 
maintenance of what are critical assets for the region. The safe on-going operation 
of the tunnels is a critical risk to the organisation, with operational costs expected to 
increase as a result of wider economic impacts.  

 
 
6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed in respect of this 

recommendation. As the report recommends an increase to the level of Mersey 
Tunnel Tolls, then there are direct impacts on all members of our community, some 
with protected characteristics. However, on review this recommendation may 
disadvantage those members of our community who rely on motor vehicles as there 
only form of travel through disability. In mitigation of this, a wider Tunnels 
concessionary travel scheme will continue to operate and mitigate this impact. 

 
 

Page 50



7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 The detailed proposals within this report will be accompanied by stakeholder and 

media communications activity to ensure key points are summarised. 
 
 
8.  PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no privacy implications associated with this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 In considering a suitable recommendation for the LCRCA, Members must balance a 

range of relevant information associated with the usage and pricing of the Mersey 
Tunnels, along with the details of the 2004 Act. This report sets out the details 
around each of these issues and recommends to Members the most appropriate toll 
levels for 2022/23, in effect increases tolls by 20p for class 1 journeys and pro rata 
for classes 2, 3 and 4. It should be stressed that travelling by car across the river 
remains the cheapest mode of cross river transport and the new discounted rate for 
LCR Fast Tag users, £1.20, remains at the same levels as 2004 when the Tunnels 
Act was introduced, despite 76% inflation since. 

 
 
 

GARY EVANS 
Assistant Director Customer Delivery 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Gary Evans, Asst Director Customer Delivery, 0151 330 4502 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Mersey Tunnels Historic Traffic Data 
 
Background Documents:  
 
County of Merseyside Act 1980, as amended   by the Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 
  

Page 51



Appendix A 
 

 
 
 

1800

1900

2000

2100

2200

2300

2400

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

M
o

n
th

ly
 T

o
ta

ls
 

T
h

o
u

s
a
n

d
s

 

Mersey Tunnels Monthly Traffic Trends. January 2000 to October 2021 Total Toll Paying Vehicles 

Month
ly…

P
age 52



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     13 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR BUS  
 
 

QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members of the Transport Committee on 

key bus issues relating to the third quarter of 2021/22.  
 
1.2 Specifically, the report will provide an update on the milestones of the Bus 

Alliance, report progress on the assessment into Bus Reform, Hybus Trial Project 
and Green Bus Routes Programme, along with an overview of how the Bus Team 
continues to work with bus operators to support the maintenance of a safe and 
reliable bus network whilst dealing with the challenges of the global COVID-19 
pandemic 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Transport 

Committee: 
 

(a) notes the contents of the report 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 COVID-19 response 
 
3.1.1 The Bus Team have been working closely with LCR bus operators throughout the 

COVID-19 pandemic, as well as being part of the LCR Resilience Group, to 
ensure a safe and reliable network for key workers in the region.  

 
3.1.2 The Bus Network Performance Team and TravelSafe Team continue to support 

response and recovery. With further legislation coming into effect in relation to the 
wearing of face coverings on public transport, the team are working once again 
with Merpol and bus operators to reintroduce operation fairway, police operations 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



on the bus network designed to educate and inform the travelling public with 
regard to the importance of wearing face coverings for public safety. 

 
3.1.3 Current patronage levels on the LCR bus network are averaging around 80% 

compared to the equivalent period in 2019. The decrease in growth is aligned with 
the increase in numbers of people being required to self-isolate. The emergence of 
the new omicron variant means that isolation periods have been extended, which 
is likely to exacerbate problems with driver levels. This Covid-19 related absence, 
in addition to drivers leaving the bus industry to move to jobs in haulage and home 
deliveries, has resulted in a shortage of drivers. Officers from the team have 
recently provided evidence to the Urban Transport Group and DFT regarding the 
current local issues which are being repeated nationally in other Local Authority 
Areas. We are also seeing a reduction in tender bids for contract work as the 
operators seek to solidify their current commitments  

 
3.1.4 Financial support from Department for Education for school services ended at the 

end of the summer term. The team have recently completed some additional 
financial survey work on behalf of Department for Transport (DFT) to support the 
grant allocations we have received. As we now move into Bus Recovery, 
colleagues from the team working to progress payments to operators under the 
terms of the new Bus Recovery Grant scheme will runs from Sept 2021 to 1 April 
2022. 

 
3.2 National Bus Strategy, Bus Service Improvement Plan, and Bus Recovery  
 
3.2.1 The National Bus Strategy – Bus Back Better – was published by the Government 

in March 2021. It details the government‟s ambition for buses in England and 
provides the basis for £3bn fund to support initiatives for:  

 
 Bus Reform 
 
 Frequency improvement and fare reductions 
 
 Decarbonisation – 4,000 zero emission buses 
 
 Bus Priority and road space allocation 

 
3.2.2 Transport Authorities must introduce Franchising or Enhanced Partnership 

measures to access the funding detailed in the strategy, which also calls for bus 
priority to be “significantly more ambitious” .  Governance issues here will 
ultimately be addressed through the bus reform project‟s recommendations and 
LCRCA decision. 

 
3.2.3 The LCRCA was tasked with producing a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 

by the end of October 2021, to act as an update to the LCR Bus Strategy and a 
bidding document into the £3bn fund.   We await further news on the outcome of 
our bid, although total amounts allocated are expected to be significantly below the 
£3bn initially indicated by government. 
 

3.2.4 Through the BSIP we are setting out ten potential projects that would transform 
bus services across the Liverpool City Region, aligned to the five priorities of our 

Page 54



Vision for Bus and the ambition set out in Bus Back Better.  These priority projects 
are set out in the table below:  
 
Priorities   Projects  

Quick and reliable 

bus journeys 

Green Bus Routes – scaling up and advancing the delivery of bus 

priority measures on our first five Green Bus Routes 
 

Bus Rapid Transit – developing proposals to introduce a Bus 

Rapid Transit system for the region, focused initially on Wirral 

Waters and Liverpool Knowledge Quarter. 

 

A comprehensive 

and integrated bus 

network 

Enhancing our bus network – sustaining and enhancing the 

network including improving frequencies and greater off-peak bus 

provision 

 

Integrating Halton - enhancing the bus network and infrastructure 

in Halton in order to fully integrate it into the city-region‟s transport 

system 

 

Straight forward 
ticketing and great 
value fares 

 

Affordable fares – fare reductions to support better value multi-

operator daily, weekly and monthly bus tickets. 

 

Tap and go – delivery of “tap-and-go” contactless ticketing with 

daily and weekly fare-capping. 

An excellent 
passenger 
experience 

MetroBus –accelerating the introduction of Metrobus branding 

across the bus network, in line with a clear local transport identity. 

 

Passenger charter – setting standards that customers should 

expect to see on bus services in the City Region 

 

An emission-free 
bus system 
 

Hybus – scaling-up the deployment of zero emission buses, 

building on the existing Hybus project 

To support delivery, we will reform our bus services by introducing either Franchising or 
Enhanced Partnership. 

 
 
3.3 LCR Bus Alliance 
 
3.3.1 The LCR Bus Alliance 2021/22 Business and Investment Plan was completed and 

approved by the Joint Alliance Board in Quarter four 2020/21 and is appended to 
this report as further information. 
 

3.3.2 Work to deliver the investment plan is ongoing with progress being monitored 
monthly, and reported to the LCR Bus Alliance Programme Board  

 
3.3.3 Partners of the Bus Alliance worked closely together to collate the priorities of and 

data behind the BSIP submitted in October 2021.  
  

Page 55



3.4 Green Bus Routes  
 
3.4.1 Further work has taken place with relevant constituent local authority partners to 

agree the measures proposed for the Liverpool to St Helens bus route, 10A, 
progress includes; 

 
3.4.1.1 Bus Priority scheme design plans have been distributed to Local Authority 

partners. Detailed packages for phase 1 bus boarders have been 
distributed to partners for review and comment. 

 
3.4.1.2 Infrastructure improvement works at Prescot Bus Station are being 

developed and progressed to support the travel options for Shakespeare 
North due to open Summer 2022. 

 
3.4.1.3 A full re-programming exercise has been conducted to reflect 

dependencies and provide adequate opportunity for review and, bring 
forward measures that will be delivered beyond 2023 and Governance 
timescales for Business Case sign-off/funding release. This includes a 
review of scope and number of Business Cases submissions that will be 
required to support the inclusion of Active Travel measures and the 
phased approach to construction.  Procurement and Resource notes have 
been redrafted and approved in light of the reprogramming exercise. 

 
3.4.1.4 Strategic highway modelling for baseline is complete. Development of do-

something scenarios is underway and on programme. 
 
3.4.1.5 Continued dialogue with LAs is maintained to identify and track emerging 

works/projects that may impact on proposals/programme. 
 
3.4.2 Discussions regarding progressing work on further Green Bus Routes (53 and 

86 bus services) are continuing in order to develop plans and designs that are 
„shovel ready‟ and to enable the LCRCA to invest in these key travel corridors 
should further funding be made available through the City Region Sustainable 
Transport Settlement or National Bus Strategy /BSIP funds.  

 
3.4.3 Work continues to ensure that there is adequate resource both within the LCRCA 

and within constituent local authorities to support delivery. It is hoped that these 
additional resources could be in place within the next 2-3 months and will enable 
LCRCA to accelerate the GBR programme along multiple corridors.  

 
3.5 LCR HyBus Trial  
 
3.5.1 British bus manufacturer ADL was selected as the supplier of the first twenty 

hydrogen fuel cell electric buses (FCEB). A contract mobilisation meeting has 
taken place to discuss delivery timescales and specification.  

 
3.5.2 Consultants Ove Arup Ltd were previously appointed to support operators in 

securing a fuel contract to supply hydrogen and have now completed well to wheel 
and social value evaluations on hydrogen market proposals enabling shortlisting of 
proposals. 
 

Page 56



3.5.3 Heads of Terms on the bus lease have been agreed between LCRCA 
and operators. 

 
3.5.4 In July  2021 the LCRCA submitted an Expression of Interest (EOI) to 

the DfT‟s Zero Emission Bus Regional Area (ZEBRA) standard scheme 2021-22, 
with a stage-two timeline to submit a Full Business Case by 31 January 2022. If 
successful, this bid could see an increase in the number of buses within the 
project from 20 to up to 43 along with funding for a hydrogen refueler and depot 
upgrades.  

 
3.6 Bus Reform 
 
3.6.1 Workstreams continue to progress individual elements of the business case and a 

review of the strategic case has been carried out by the LCRCA to insure it aligns 
with current priorities, policies and projections.  

 
3.6.2 A Periodic Indicative Notice (PIN) was issued to inform the market that the LCRCA 

was planning to conduct a market engagement exercise in respect of its commercial 
proposition for bus franchising within the Liverpool City Region (LCR).  

 
3.6.3 As part of a market engagement exercise, the LCRCA issued a Questionnaire with 

information about the LCRCA's commercial proposition for bus franchising and to 
seek input from interested parties to inform the LCRCA's understanding of the 
capabilities of the market.  The results of this Market Engagement exercise will 
further develop the Management Case of the wider assessment under completion. 

 
3.6.4 It is expected that the bus reform assessment will be completed in early 2022. 
 
3.7 Open Buses Programme / Customer Information  
 
3.7.1 The Customer Information Team have continued to liaise with DfT, local bus 

operators and database providers to address issues relating to the accuracy of the 
data in order to meet the DfT data requirements. As a result, the Customer 
Information Team were able to publish fully compliant routes and timetables data 
on behalf of the smaller operators who we act as Bus Open Data Service (BODS) 
Agents for ahead of DfT deadlines. 

 
3.7.2 DfT have set a deadline for publishing Fares to BODS – simple fares deadline is 

31 December 2021 and complex fares is 07 January 2023. We will continue to 
support our smaller operators as BODS Agents and the expectation is that 
Ticketer will be used to supply Fares data. DfT have set a deadline of 31 
December 2021 for publishing vehicle location data (AVL) to BODS. We currently 
publish AVL to Open Buses as Agents for our supported services small operators 
using a feed from Ticketer.  

 
3.7.3 Further integration of the DMT feed is planned and discussions are in progress 

with Ito World to give access to the DMT feed for use by our rti suppliers – Thetis 
and Journeo. Customer Information team are working with the Network 
Performance to display paged disruption messages at bus station RTI screens 
using the screen management software. 

 

Page 57



3.7.4 The Liverpool area map first proof has been received and comments feedback to 
the cartographer.  Local area maps to support the Liverpool area map are in 
development.  A first proof for Belle Vale Centre has been supplied for comment 
and the overall project is being progressed  
 

3.8 Travelsafe 
 

3.8.1 At the TravelSafe Partnership Board held in October the members discussed the 
progress of the annual work plan.  The key areas of areas of work during Q3 will 
be restoring the establishment of the Merseyside Police dedicated TravelSafe 
PCSOs and the review of the Merseyside Police TravelSafe team. The team are 
also planning operations and coordinating resources to support Merseyside 
Police‟s Operation Banger plan.  

 
3.8.1 The partnership continues to work with Knowsley‟s Crime and Communities team 

to develop a longer-term strategy to address the issues of criminal damage across 
the borough. This has included joint working to resolve the problem of buses being 
damaged in Lydiate Lane, Halewood. Working together, a greater presence was 
placed in the area and significant modifications to bridge access, fencing, gated 
access, screening of shrubs and bushes was made. On completion of the works 
the operator restored service and to date there have been no further incidents 
 

3.8.2 iSensing has been previously commissioned to assist in the understanding of the 
social and economic impact of sexual harassment on the transport network in the 
City Region. Their final report highlighted the impact that sexual harassment has 
on a number of areas including leisure, transport and jobs and identified 23 factors 
for change which the partners are now considering.  

 
3.8.3 The findings of the report were used as evidence for a Home Office Safer Streets 

3 funding bid led by Liverpool CitySafe and TravelSafe to address this issue. In 
October 2021, Merseyside‟s Police and Crime Commissioner confirmed that the 
£270k funding bid was successful. The funding will be used to implement a range 
of measures including CCTV upgrades at Liverpool One and Queen Square bus 
stations, bystander training for transport staff and a text reporting service.  

 
3.8.4 The government published its Violence against Women‟s and Girls Strategy in July 

2021.  To support this the DfT appointed a personal safety lead who will be 
working with the first Violence Against Women and Girls Transport Champions to 
specifically address the issue of safety on the transport network.  The champions, 
Laura Shoaf (Interim Chief Executive of West Midland Combined Authority) and 
(Anne Shaw, Interim Managing Director of Transport for West Midlands) will be 
working to produce recommendations for the government on what best practice 
could be adopted and what key evidence gaps need to be filled to ensure women 
and girls can travel safely, which in turn will make the network safer for everyone.   

 
3.8.5 The Champions will be hosting a series of roundtable events in November to 

investigate how the safety of women and girls on the public transport network 
including walking, cycling and smart mobility can be improved. Various 
stakeholders including transport operators, planners, police, charities and victim 
support groups will be invited to share their thoughts, ideas and experiences 
around how to improve safety for women and girls using the transport network.   

 

Page 58



3.9 Contract Management Streamlining  
 
3.9.1 All Electronic Ticket Machines data and payments are now being processed 

through EP Morris (software provider).  The implementation of the system has 
streamlined the returns process and generated a number of efficiencies whilst also 
improving the quality and robustness of data. 

 
3.9.2 Initial dashboards have been delivered and Merseytravel has become the first 

organisation/authority to develop and use the new dashboard module.  Agreement 
is in place to work and develop the dashboards over the coming months to ensure 
it is capable of monitoring the necessary KPIs and Performance for the delivery of 
Bus Reform 

 
3.10 Electric fleet vehicles  
 
3.10.1 In line with organisational commitments to improve our environmental impact, a 

fleet of electric vehicles has been procured to deliver the services of the Bus 
network performance team.  

 
3.10.2 The impacts of COVID on the car industry and a substantial fire at a silicon factory 

which provided engine management chips to the motor industry, have caused a 
delay in delivery.  However, all vehicles are ordered, and the first vehicles have 
arrived with the remainder being delivered in the coming.  

 
3.10.3 Operational Team Leaders will be delivering toolbox talks in January in 

preparation for demonstrate charging and vehicle checks. Recently the team in 
conjunction with the Wirral Road Safety Partnership have undergone a driving 
course focussed on safe and economic driving skills.   

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct financial implications resulting from the recommendations of 

this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct implications for HR resulting from the recommendations of this 

report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct implications for physical assets resulting from the 

recommendations of this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct implications for information technology resulting from the 

recommendations of this report. 
 

Page 59



 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 Separate Risk registers for Green Bus Routes, HyBus and Bus Reform are 

maintained and reported on regularly and integrated into the corporate risk 
register. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The equality and diversity implications of individual activities have been and will 

continue to be fully considered as part of developing the Bus Alliance Investment 
plans, bus service reviews and considerations as part of the Business Case for 
alternative bus delivery models in alignment with the Bus Services Act 2017. 

 
6.2 The increased financial and operational support provided by Merseytravel to 

sustain the network and ensure that services continue to operate has maintained 
bus connectivity for those who rely on bus services the most. 

 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
7.1 The LCR Bus Alliance has a joint communications strategy and the Bus Team 

works closely with colleagues in Corporate Communications and Corporate 
Engagement.  Some of the items mentioned above have been subject to separate 
communications. 

 
7.2 LCRCA colleagues are leading on the development of communication and 

engagement plans for Green Bus Routes, HyBus and Bus Reform 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
 There are no potential privacy implications as a result of the recommendations of 

this report 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 This report has highlighted activities delivered in quarter three of 2021/22 by the 

LCR Bus Alliance, an update on key bus-led projects and an overview of how the 
Bus Team has been maintaining a safe and reliable bus network whilst dealing 
with the challenges of the global COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
 

MATT GOGGINS 
Assistant Director For Bus 

 
 
  

Page 60



Contact Officer(s): 
 
Matt Goggins, Assistant Director, Bus, Tel 0151 330 1340 
Laura Needham, Bus Strategy Programme Manager, Tel 0151 330 4568 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport), Tel 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
None 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     13 January 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Liverpool, Wirral 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

MERSEY FERRIES PIER HEAD TERMINAL 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the public consultation 

exercise recently undertaken in respect of the renaming of the Mersey Ferries Pier 
Head Terminal and endorse the next steps associated with this renaming process. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Members: 
 

(a) note the contents of the report; and 
 
(b) note and endorse the decision by Merseytravel in respect of the renaming 

of the Mersey Ferries Pier Head Terminal to “The Liverpool Gerry Marsden 
Ferry Terminal”.  

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 On 27 July 2021, Merseytravel considered a report on the potential renaming of 

the Pier Head Ferry Terminal in recognition of Gerry Marsden, and the special 
connection between Gerry and the Mersey Ferries that had been in place for 
decades since the release of the song Ferry „Cross the Mersey‟.  

 
3.2 Merseytravel resolved the following: - 
 

(a) the contents of the report be noted; 
  
(b) the idea to rename the Mersey Ferry Pier Head Ferry Terminal as a tribute 

to Gerry Marsden be endorsed, subject to confirmation that the family 
supported such tribute; and  

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



(c) the start of a formal public consultation process towards this approach be 
approved, the results of which will be brought back to Merseytravel prior to 
formal decisions being made be noted. 

 
3.3 The public consultation process was undertaken for just over 3 weeks, between 8 

September and 3 October 2021. The consultation was held mainly on a digital site, 
Common Place, supported by a simple postcard system in each of the operating 
Terminals – Woodside and Pier Head (largely aimed at capturing our regular 
commuter audience). 

 
3.4 Detailed below is a summary of the Consultation process: - 
 

 1205 comments were received in total. The majority of these were made 
via the digital channel, with only 131 made via postcard. 
 

 64% of respondents were positive about the proposals, 4% neutral and 
32% negative about the proposals (details of negative comments below). 
 

 The demographics of the respondents show a good balance between 
male and female and were largely resident in Liverpool and Wirral. 
 

 The age group of respondents was primarily over the age of 55, with over 
65% in this category. 

 

 Many of the positive comments recognise the special link between Gerry 
Marsden and Mersey Ferries and support this renaming approach 

 
3.5 Officers have considered the various points and whilst the majority of comments 

were positive, there was a trend around some of the negative comments that 
officers have looked to respond to below for completeness: - 

  

Summary of Negative Comments Officer Response 

The new name is far too long, keep it 
simple. 

The new name is longer, but in the 
same format as The Liverpool John 
Lennon Airport. Consideration has been 
given to shorten the name but there are 
limited relevant alternative options to 
cover all requirements. 
 

Don‟t rename the terminal – rename 
the vessels after Gerry 

The vessels have traditionally carried 
the names Royal Daffodil and Royal 
Iris, carrying the royal charter status 
following their involvement in 
Zeebrugge. These historical names 
have been secured by the organisation 
with a vision to use these names on 
any new vessels that are procured in 
the future. 
 

Why name another building after a 
person, specifically Gerry Marsden 
as there are more famous people. 

This proposal is specifically brought 
because of the unique link between 
Gerry and the Mersey Ferries. This was 

Page 64



largely created in 1964/65, with the 
launch of the song “Ferry „Cross the 
Mersey” and a subsequent film of the 
same name. This unique link lasted for 
many years and Gerry is the only 
person ever to be offered the Freedom 
of the Mersey Ferries in the 1980‟s 
 

The money spent on renaming would 
be better spent on a statue. 

Following discussions with Gerry‟s 
family it was decided that renaming of 
the Pier Head Terminal was the most 
fitting way of commemorating him and 
his link to the Mersey Ferries. 
 

 
3.6 Based on the above, the recommendation is to continue with the proposals to 

rename the Pier Head Ferry Terminal to “The Liverpool Gerry Marsden Ferry 
Terminal”. In the main, this process will include amendment of all relevant digital 
and paper sources relating to Mersey Ferries Pier Head terminal, along with a 
“renaming ceremony” to mark this event. 

 
3.7 It is recommended the officers also explore the options around appropriately 

recording this renaming process. This can be best completed via a plaque inside 
the building, explaining the link between Gerry Marsden and Mersey Ferries. 
Officers will also continue to explore the options of external signage, but current 
work would indicate significant cost associated with any amendment to the 
stonework externally (estimated at £30k) along with practical issues around 
planning and available space. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial Implications 
 
4.1.1 At this stage, the financial implications of this approach are expected to be minimal 

and managed as part of the approved Mersey Ferries revenue budget for 2021/22. 
The major cost is expected to relate to any external building signage should this 
be an option. As an indication of costs, an estimate of £30k will be required in the 
2022/23 budget, as there will be a delay due to planning requirements etc. This 
work may not proceed for a range of reasons and is detailed as a worst case 
scenario financially. A plaque can be provided internally/ externally at minimal 
cost. 

 
4.2 HR Implications 
 
 There are no direct HR implications associated with this report. 
 
4.3 IT Implications  
 

There are no direct IT implications associated with this report. 
  

Page 65



 
4.4 Physical Asset Implications 
 
 Colleagues in Asset Management have been engaged in respect of this proposal 

and involved in the initial engagement with the planning and conservation officers. 
The Asset Management team have provided the estimate for building signage and 
will also lead in the signage replacement should this proposal proceed. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 There is a risk that this proposal will not be well received by Gerry Marsden‟s 

family, but this has been mitigated through early engagement with family members 
and written approval to proceed. Officers will explore with legal colleagues the 
appropriateness of a legal agreement to cover this arrangement too. 

 
5.2 There is a risk that public and stakeholders will react negatively to this idea. The 

public consultation process was aimed at mitigating such and whilst the majority of 
comments are positive, there are a number of negatives comments too. Work will 
be undertaken with comms colleagues around managing this reputational risk. 

 
5.3 The main risk associated with this proposal does relate to planning and 

conservation officer approval. This exists largely due to the external signage, but 
can be mitigated by retaining the existing, stone engraved “Mersey Ferries” 
signage, change all digital and paper reference to “The Liverpool Gerry Marsden 
Ferry Terminal” and mark with an internal and external plaque. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and does not identify any 

negative impacts on members of our community. The public consultation process 
has also been completed and not identified any negative impacts or comments in 
respect of Equality. 

 
 

7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no privacy implications associated with this report as long as approval of 

the family is obtained. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 The communication team have been briefed on this report and were involved in 

the launch of consultation and will be involved in the renaming process should the 
matter proceed, to maximise the positive PR that is likely to flow from this proposal 
locally.  

  

Page 66



 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 This report looks to respond to the requests received to offer a lasting tribute to 

Gerry Marsden following his sad loss in early 2021, recognising the link between 
Gerry and the Mersey Ferries for over 50 years, and sets out the process to follow 
in order to develop the concept. 

 
 
 
 

GARY EVANS 
Assistant Director Customer Delivery 

 
 
 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Gary Evans, Assistant Director Customer Delivery Tel 0151 330 4502 
 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, Tel 0151 330 1429 
 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Budget Setting Report 2022/23
	Enc. 1 for Merseytravel Budget 2022-23
	Enc. 2 for Merseytravel Budget 2022-23
	Enc. 3 for Merseytravel Budget 2022-23

	5 Mersey Tunnels Tolls 2022/23
	6 Quarterly Bus Update
	7 Mersey Ferries Pier Head Terminal

